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NIAGARA FALLS AND MONTREAL

LAKE ONTARIO.

Ontario and St. Lawrence Steamboat Company

‘Will, during the season, run two daily lines, Sundays exeepted,

BETWEEN LEWISTON AND MONTREAEL.

UNITED STATES MAIL LINE,

Compesed of the large and commodious Lake Steamers;

NORTHERNER........._...... Carr. R. F. CHILD:
ONTARIO......... i A Carn H.N. THROOP
NIAGARA ................_ ..._Carr.J. B. ESTES;
CATARACT. ..................Carr. A.D. KILBY.

And the beautiful River Steamers,
JENNY LIND ..._._............ Carr. L. MOODY.
BRITISH EMPIRE ....._...... Carr. D. 8. ALLEN.
BRITISH QUEEN ... ... ... Carr. LAFLAMME..
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One of these large and superior Lake Steamers leaves Lew-
sston every day, counecting at Oswego with the railroads to
Albany, at Ogdensburgh with the railroads through New
England to Boston, and the above named River Steamers to
Montreal, as follows:

DOWN THE LAKE, UP THE LAKE,
Leave Lewiston. . __.__.. 3r. .M | Leave Montreal _..._______ 2P.M.
Leave Rochester...c.o._.- 10 ». u. | Leave Ogdensburgh on ar-
Leave Oswego, connecting rival of cars from Boston, 7 p. M.
with cars for Albany_._.. 8 a. m. | Leave Kingston.. oo 84a.M,
Leave Sucketts Harbor -..1L . m. | Leave Sacketts Harbor .__11 a. x.
Leave Kingston oococem_. 2p.n. | Leave Oswegyv on arrival
Leave Ogdensburgh._..._. 8 A M of cars from Albany
and arrive in Montreal at 5 p, M. | Leave Rochester...._.
passing the Thousand Is- and arrive at Lewiston ai 5 A, M.
lands and ali the Rapids in time for Boat for To-
by daylight. ronte and Hamilton, and
Trains for Niagara Falls
and Buflalo.

N. B.—Passengers up the Lake, by this line, arrive at Niag-
ara Falls and Buffalo in time for breakfast and morning boats
up Lake Erie — having an opportunity to see the Falls.

Passengers leaving Buffalo at 12 o’clock, noon, and Niagara
Falls after dinner, can take this line and reach Albany, via
‘Oswego, next afternoon, at 2 o’clock, in time for cars and
:steamers for New York, making the trip with despatch and

without fatigue, and at less expense than by any other route
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{iagara Talls and Wonireqh

LAKE ONTARIO.

American Express Line,
Composed of the new, large, and beautiful Lake Steamers,

NEW YORK . ... ........... Carr. R. B. CHAPMAN.
BAY STATEH...c.ocmmsmmess s Capr. J. H. LE]?YARD—

And the beautiful River Steamers,

JENNY LIND........_........ Carr. L. MOODY .
BRITISH EMPIRE ........... Carr. D. S. ALLEN.
BRITISH QUEEN.._...._..._.Carr. LAFLAMME.

Expressly adapted to the navigation of the Rapids.

Will, in connection with the railroads between. Cape Vin-
cent and Albany, at Ogdensburgh with the railroads through

New England to Boston, and tle River Stcamers to Montreal,
form a

DAILY LINJ, SUNDAYS EXCEPTED, BETWEEN

LEWISTON, TORONTO, CAPE VINCENT, ALBANY, OGDENS-.
BURGH, EOSTON, AND MONTREAL,

As follows:
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DOWN THE LAKE,

UP THE LAKE,

Leave Lewsstono_ oo .. 12 Leave Montreal oo oo .. 2P M
Leave Toronto coooooooaoo 34 ®. m.| Leave O zdensburzh on ar-
Leave Cape Vincent ___._. L am rival ol cars from Boston, 2 p M
Leave Oudensbuigho.oo.._ S a0 Leave Cape Vineent on ar-

and aroive in Montreal.. 5 p. M.

rival of cars from Albany, 6 P, m.

passing the Thousand Is- Leave Torontoos ccoeeaenes 6 A m.

lands and all the Rapids and arrive ab Lewislonat 9 A. .
by daylight. in 1ime for Boat for Ham-

itton, and Trains for I'alls

and Buflalo.

N. B.—Puassengers wishing more variety, in going East from
Niagara Falls, thar is afforded by railroads, and not Laving
time to go by way of Moutreal, will find the route by the
Anmerican Express Line and railroads between Cape Vincent
and Albany, agreeable and expeditious, leaving Niagara Falls
at 11 4, a1, going via Toronto, and reaching Albany next
afterunoon in time for cars and steamers for New York.

Both the United States Mail and American Express Lines
conueet at Ogdensburgh with the river steamers down the
Rapids to Mountreal, and cars for Boston, over the Ogdens-
burgh railroad to Rouse’s Point; from thence, by cither the
Vermont Central or the Rutland and Burlington Railroads,
through the vallies of the Gueen Mountains, Those for Sara-
toga, from Ogdensburgh by railroad, or from Montreal by
railroad, take steamer at Rouse’s Point for Whitehall; from
thence by railroad — or, those wishing to make the delizhtful
trip through Lake George, luave the Champlain boat at Fort

Tieondernga.



8 GREAT NORTHERN ROUTE.

THE
Steamer Rochester,
CAPT J. MASON,
‘Will, during the season, run daily, Sundays excepted, between

LEWISTON AND HAMILTON,

CONNECTING WITH BOTH THE

PUITED STATES HALL LINE

AND
American Express Line,
AS FOLLOWS :
Tieave Hamilton at. ... .. ... .. ... ........... T A M.
Arrive at Lewiston at.... ..o ..o..oo....o...olll11F ¢
AND
Leave Lewiston at.cac oo oooe oo coei i caaans 1p M
Arriving at Hamilton at. cecoeovoneiiniiocnnnocas 5%

N. B.—Passengers Jeaving Hamilton for New York by this boat, and
taking either of the American Lines from Lewiston, reach there at 9
o’clock next evening; and those leaving Iamilton for Montreal by this
boat, and taking the American Express Line at Lewiston, reach there at
b o’clock, p. M., next afternoon.

GENERAL OFFICES

OF THE

Ontario and St. Lawrence Steamboat Company.
MONTREAL -« wcve aaeaanoae. Office in M’Gill Street.
OGDENSBURGH - < veeeacannnnn. Office at Railroad Depot.
OBWEGO: cxvmmmsis soe s aivemann Principal Office, on the Dock.
ROCHESTER. . ... ..ol Office under Eagle Hotel.
NIAGARA «ccncimiie e Office Cataract Hotel Block.
BUFFALO. . oci i Office Western Hotel Block.
BUFFALO. . ... ... Office American Hotel Block.

At all the above Offices, Tickets can be Procured.

Northern Railroad,

OFFICE IN CATARACT HOTEL BLOCK, NIAGARA FALLS.



GREAT NORTHERN ROUTE. 9
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BUFFALG AND MIAGARA PALLS

RATITILIROATI.

SUMMER ARRANGEMENT.

Cars will leave BUFFALO 8b wacecccceaenao... 9 o’clock, A. .
“ B e 12« M.
e B e e ——— 43 “ pMm
Qars will leave N1agara Farrs. ... ... 63 « A M.
« “ . 2% ¢
&« L L = S 6 “ P. M.

ONE TRAIN ONLY ON SUNDAY,

Leaving BUFFALO ab.ececceecaneenmnaannnn. 8% o’clock A. M.

Leaving N1AGARA FALLS.ccooeamoaciaio. 5 “  PM

WM. A. BIRD,

SUPERINTENDENT
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1y 7 wmmr M on 7 7'11 Q Y
:('.m&(.(* 1R ALy i 3< iu.‘.’xii i) @d

STAGI CONME AT Y.

IN CONNECTION WITH THE

LAKE ONTARIO STEAMERS

AND

Wiagara Falls and Buffulo Railroad,

I8 AN

ELEGANT LINE OF STAGE COAC HES,
Runolng over the Plank Road from

LEWISTON TO NIAGARA FALLS:

Leaving Niagara Falls....................... 8 A M
£ i rEEsESEREEIaBEE e 103 a. >
« B e iEE . BEEEene menoene .M

Leave Lewiston for Niagara F'alls, connecting with

the cars for Burravo, immediately upon the arrival of the
Steamers,

This line of Coaches is conducted in a most able manner ;
the proprivtors having sparcd no pains or expense in their ar-

rangements ; and having ohfained the services of obliging and
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sober men for didvers, every eare and precaution {or the com-

fort and sufity of passengers has been thorouzhly attended to

Those intending to take the Lake Ontario or Northern
Route, have an opportunity of sceing the Tovil’s Hole, Erocl’s
Mounurnent, and the Leautiful view (see frontisiicce.) from
the brow ol the mountain abuve Lewiston, in coming dowa
at the rewular hours of the stozes to the Doats, But these
wishing to speind a little more time in visiting these places, as
well as Queenston Heighits, Battle Ground, and the great Sus-
pension Leidze at Lowiston, than is affordled by the regular
coaches, (as the boats leave immedintely upon the arrival of
the stages at Lewiston,) can procure them at any hour hy ap-

plying at the Stage Office.

There are few drives sarpassing tlus in beaniy of scenery,

or more abundant in historieal incidents, — so much so that, it

may almost be called “clussic geound,” — and pleasure-seek-

ors shoull by no means emit enjoying it.

Parties coming up Like Ontario on the steamers, and wish-
ing separate carrivges, can sccure them by applying to the

clerk of the boat.

N. B.— Travelers intending to take the Lake Ontario rouie,
ae chocked at Bufinlo directly for Lewis-

ean have their b

ton, and vice versa, relicving thew from all care of it while at

the Falls.
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OSWEGO ANID SYRACUSE

RAITTROATD.

SUMMER ARRANGEMENT—1852.

Trains will leave Syracuse,

At 6.10 . a. from New Yerk, Express to Buat for Ogdens
burgh.

At 145 »p. M. from Albany, Expresses to Boat for Lewiston, &e

At 5.30 p. M. from Mail and New York Express.

Trains will leave Oswego,
At 6.10 A. M. from Boat to morning train from Syracuse.
At 10 A.m to connect with New York Express.
At 530 p. a. to connect with Mail and Night Express.

These, also, connect with trains from Syracuse west. Bag-
gage can be checked from New York, Albany, and all princ-
pal stations, to and from Oswego.

Tickets can also be purchased to and from the same pointa

A. G. WILLIAMS,

SUPERINTENDENT,
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Rome, Waterfotony & Eape Yineent

RAITIIL.IRO A D.

This road has Rome, (fourteen miles west of Utica,)
for its southern, and Cape Vincent, on the St. Law-
rence, sixty miles above Ogdensburgh, for its northern
terminus. Length, ninety-seven miles—eighteen inter-
mediate stations. ‘

Summer Arrangement for 1852, as follows:

Going Torth and West.

Passengers leaving New York by the evening trains
will reach Rome in time for the Morning Mail Train for
Cape Vincent.

Passengers leaving New York by evening boats
will reach Rome for the Noon Express Train for Cape
Vincent.

Passengers leaving New York by the first morning
train will reach Rome in time for the Evening Local
Train for Cape Vincent,
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Going South and Lush

Passengers from Niagara Falls, Hamilton, and To-
ronto, by tuking the Morning Mail Train from Cape
Vincent, will arrive in New York or Doston early the
same evening.

Passengers from Kingston, DBay of Quinte, and
Oudensburgh, by taking the Noon Express Trein at
Cape Vincent, will reach Albany in time for the
evening buats for New York.

Passengers ean leave Ogdensburgh by the Ameri-
can Express Line, at 2 p. a1, and rcach Cape Vincent
in time for the evening local train goine east.  Or can
leave at 8 p. a1, by the U. 8, Muil Line, and reach
Cape Vineent in time for the morning train for Albany
and New Yorl,  Steamers will ply between Cape
Vineent and Kingston alternately, three times each
day, Sundays exceptedl.

Steniners from Montreal and Lewiston will touch at

Cape Vincent twice each day, affording the most

agreeable and expeditious means of transit to Niag-
ara Fulls, Toronto, Hamilton, Brockville, Prescott,
Ogdensburgh, and other prominent ports on lake
Ontario and river St Lawience,

Also, steamers ply constantly between the Cape
and Belleville, and other perl towns on the Jay of

Quinte,
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The line of this road pusses over the ancient Indian
trail and hunting srounds, between the head waters of
the Mohawk and the river St. Lawrence. Such is
tradition, corroborated by the frequent discovery of
velies which eould unly pertain to the red man i his
primeval and uncontaminated state.

Constant experience has proved that wherever
nature presented means of subsistence and physical
charms to the children of the forest, the civilized man
has never had oceasion to hesitate when lovking for a
“new home.”  Accordingly, we find Jefferson county,
althouvh its settlement dates back less than sixty
years, filled with an industrious population, and «
railroad as a monument of their enterprise.

“This lne is not mavked with that boldness in natural
scenery, and charged with those drafts on life and
limb, which characterize some existing thoroughfares;
but it is not devoid of views enriched by the sub-
limity of space,—of a sense of personal sccurity,—
and the pleasurable emotions engendered while pass-
ing well-cultivated fields, thriving villages, and ncble
rivers.

The southern terminus, Rome, at the present day,
is too well known to the traveling public to need par-
ticular attention. The prestige which is given by the
passage of the Erie and Black River Canuls, the

New York Central, and the Watertown and Rome
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Railroads, through it,—particularly the latter— should
be sufficient to gratify ordinary ambition.

With this town, however, are connected many in-
teresting reminiscences. Ninety-six years ago, during
the French war, a fort was built just in the rear of
where the Seymour House now stands, and was named
Fort Stanwix, after the officer who superintended
its construction. It commanded the carrying place
between the Mohawk and Wood Creek, whose waters
have different destinations—the former, the Atlantic
ocean, the latter Lake Ontario, by way of Oncida Lake
and Oswego river. Cannon ball and grape shot have
been found, in grading on the site of this fort, within
the last fifteen years. On the fall of the French
power in America, in 1759, Fort Stanwix passed into
the hands of the English. At the commencement of
the Revolution, the fort was in ruins. It was repaired,
and re-named Fort Schuyler, by the Americans, and
occupied by them as an outpost. On the incursion
of Burgoyne, by way of Lake Champlain, a detach-
ment of British under Col. St. Leger, was despatched
by the St. Lawrence and Lalce Ontario route to the
newly-named Fort Schuyler, with the view of captur-
ing it, and forming a junction with Burgoyne at Al-
bany. Both were so unfortunate as not to reach that
city. St. Leger discovered more agility in quitting
his position, before the firee of Col. ‘Willett, than he
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had in taking it; and Burgoyne was violently relieved
of his command at Saratoga, by Gen. Gates.

Rome at present contains about six thousand five
hundred inhabitants, and being principally emigrants
from New England, and their descendants, are a well-
behaved people. It has a large mercantile business,
several churches, and first-rate hotels.

The first ten miles, after leaving Rome by the
Watertown and Rome Railroad, the prospect is not of
the most enchanting kind, it being a dead level, and
the land parting with its “first great crop,” consisting
of sundry pines and hemlocks, of calibre rating from
a telegraph pole to a fair-sized mill log. If shingles
and sawed lumber were digestible, there would need
be no apprehension of a famine among the residents
here for years to come. As it is, they exhibit signs
of good keeping which would lead to the conclusion
that versatility of character was not the least of their
qualifications — allowing boards and shingles tc be

their staples.
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NORTHERN RAILROAD

After Thursday, April 1, 1852, Trains will Run as follows,

GOING EAST.

Mail Train leaves Ogdensburgh ... ... ... .._. 8 A.m
Arrives at Rouse’s Point_._. ... ... 128 r. »
Express Train leaves Ogdensburgh............ . 2 p.»
Arrives at Rouse’s Point ... .. ...._ 6% p.»

GOING WEST.

Mail Train leaves Rouse’s Point ... ... .. ... 8 A. M
Arrives at Ogdenshureh. . ... ..._.1250p. M
Express Train leaves Ronse’s Pointo ..o .. .. 2 r. M
Avrives at Ogdensburgh.....__...._. 6.55 p. .

Maru Tratw Doww connects, at Rouse’s Point, with
the Mail Train of the Vermont Central Railroad, for
Boston; and for New York, vin Connecticut Valley
railroads.  Also, with the Rutland and Burlington
Railroad, at Burlington, for Troy, Albany, and New
York—via Hudson River and Harlaem railroads. Ton-
neets, also, with the Passumpsic River Railroad, and the
Champlain and St. Lawrence Railroad, for Montreal.

Express Trary Down connects as abeve.  Conneets
with Boston and New York, by the L.ke Ontarie
Steamboats, via Burlington and Wkitchall,  Steam-
boats will leave the Railrond Whenf on the arrival of
the Express Train at Rous+'s Point, at 7 o’clock, p. m
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Mamw Tray Up, connects with the Lake Ontario
Express Line of Stcamboats, which leave Ogdens-
burgh at 2 o’clock p. av, and arrive at Ningira Falls
at 8 o’clock the fullowing morning. Also, with lines
of steamers which touch at all the ports on the British
shore of Lake Ontario.

By this route, passcngers leaving Montreal in the
morning train, will be placed on board the Lake On-
tario steamboats, at the Railroad Wharf at Ogdens-
burgh, at 1 o'clock P. M., and arrive at Brockville and
Kingston same afternoon, and at Toronto and Iamil-
ton the next day.

Express Traixy Up, connects with the night boats on
Lake Ountario, which coast the Lalke, and stop at all
the ports on the American side of the Lake, landing
passengers at Lewiston, for Niagara Falls and Buffale.

Express Freienr Traiw Up, for Express train for
Boston and New York, to Canada and the West, via
Ozdensburgh Railroad Line, leaves Rouse’s Point at
6 ». M., and runs through, without stopping at way-
stations, and arrives at Ogdensburgh at 10 minutes
past 4 o’clock, next morning.

Express Frerenr Traiy Doww, leaves Ogdens-
burgh for Boston and New York, at 5.45 ». ., and
arrives at Rouse’s Point at 4 o’clock next morning.
This Express Freight Line conneets with Express
Lines to Boston, via Vermont Central Raliroad, and
by steamboat to Burlington, and thence, via Rutland
and Burhingrm Raileoad.  Also, by steambonts and
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vailroads for New York, via Whitehall, Troy, and the
Hudson River.

This well-appointed railway commences at Ogdens-
burgh, on the St. Lawrence river, at the foot of lake
navigation, and extends one hundred and eighteen
miles, to Rouse’s Point, at the foot of the navigation
of Lake Champlain.

At this point, the lake is crossed by the celebrated
bridge from Rouse’s Point to Alberg Island. This
structure is about three thousand feet in length, and
is remarkable for the peculiarity of the swing bridge,
near the center, by means of which, the passage of
vessels is allowed. The Depot at this point, is one of
the most commodious and extensive in this state.

Fort Crawford, at the boundary line betwcen the
United States and Canada, is also situated just below
the bridge. It is nearly completed, and, when fin-
ished, will doubtless present one of the strongest for-
tifications in the country.

Lines of railways and steamboats from Boston,
New York, and Montrcal, connect at the terminus of
the Ogdensburgh Railroad, at Rouse’s Point.

The White Mountuins are now easily reached by the
Vermont Central, and Passumpsic railways. Stages
arc always in attendance to convey passengers from
the station on the Passumpsic, to Faybyan’s White
Mountain Iouse.

CHARLES L. SCHLATTER,
Chicf Engineer and Superintendent,
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Hints fo Trabelers.

A few hints to travelers are not deemed inappro-
priate.

For the purpose of saving much trouble, and many
inconveniences, from complying with the different
regulations of the various lines of conveyances, with
regard to baggage, we recommend travelers, and par-
ticularly those for pleasure, to take with them trunks
of convenicnt size to withstand the rough handling to
which they are subjected.

On all the principal lines of conveyances, baggage
is usually checked to any point desired, which relieves
the owner from much anxiety.

Baggace, while under check, is out of the reach of
the owner, particularly on railroads, hence the impor-
tance, for comfort, to have some small traveling bag,
or satchel—which travelers can take with them at all
times, in staterooms and other places—containing arti-

cles of clothing, &c. for daily use. The difficulty of
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getiing at baggage, when in cars or baggage rooms,
for the purpose of taking out such articles as may be
needed every night, is attended with much trouble,
and at times not practicable.

Every one should decide, before arriving at their
stopping place, the hotel at which they intend to stop,
and not wait until their arrival. The noise and solici-
tations of the agents of the various lines of convey-
auces, and different public houses, at the railroad
depots and sleamboat landings, are apt to diseompose
even those accustomed to it, and the inexperienced
traveler is liable to be misled.

It is very easy to obtain the names of the publie
houses from directories and papers, or from friends
who have been over the route — thus avoiding much
annoyance, and increasing the pleasure of traveling.
The comforts of home cannot be expected at all times
when traveling; I would therefore advise my traveling
friends, to lcave home with a determination to be
pleased, and submit to the many Urifling annoyances
which necessarily attend nearly all modes of transit.
A cheerful disposition begets a correspending spirit in
all whom it may come in contact with; and the proof
of this will universally be found, whether it comes in
contact with steamboat caplains, stewards, conductors,
or ordwnary passengers.
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Hand-Book for Trabelets

Pingora Falls, Hontreal, Oueber,

Tole Chmmploin, Smatogn, &t

HE route from Nriscara Farrs to MoNTREAL,
and QueBkc, by way of Lagke Ontario and the
River St. LAwrENCE, has now become onc of the
favorite summer excursions so indulged in by all
classes of the American people, that their Canadian
neighbors have named them the “traveling nation.”
In the “Guide Books” of the day, this route
receives a casual mention, like hundreds of others;
but the peculiar merits of it have not been pointed
out and enlarged upon.
In the first place, there are no steamers in the
world that rank higher than those belonging to the

Ontarlo any St Labwrence Steamboat Co.
and comprising the two American lines—the

Tnitey States WMall Line,
2
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running on the American side of Lake Ontario, and the

QAmevican Eyrpress Line,

running on the Canadian side. These boats are
constructed in the most subsiantial manner; the
utmost pains are taken in the manufacture of their
engines, and though “last, not least,” the selection of
the officers in command, the engineers, and all con-
cerned in their navigation, is made with the strictest
reference to their fitness and qualifications for the sta-
tions they are to hold.  As a proof of the eare and skill
with which the American steamers have always been
conducted on these waters, it can be said of them,
what perhaps can not be said of any other line of
steamers or railroad in the world, of cqual extent—
that there has never occurred an accident by which
loss of life was occusivned.

The Canadians are trying the experiment of run-
ning boats adapted to the navivation of the river
below OcpEnspurg, upon the Lake also. This is
considered by many well acquainted with lake and
river navigation, as not practicable with a due regard
to safety; as vessels of so light draught of water, as
are mnecessary to run the Rapids with safety, are
thought not suitable for the Lake navigation; and
if they are built of sufficient draught to adapt them
for the Lake, they may be considered unsafe for the
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Rapids. The Oxtario axp S Lawuexce STEf 4
Boar Co. have taken this view of the matter, snd
built their steamers accordingly, having large, strng-
ly-built ones for the Lake, and others of a light
draught for the Rapids.

In the sccond place, no route in the Unite¢ States
is more replete with natural interest, or more abund-
ant in thrilling historical associations.  The settlement
of many of the towns on this route, date back to the
time of the occupation of the country by the French.
This was also a favorite “hunting ground” of the
Indians; and many were the battles fought before
they would give up possession of the pleasant coun-
try of the Niagara and St. Lawrence.

Here may be traced records of the labors of the
Jesuits, those pioneers of civilization — persevering
men, who, undaunted by privations and difficulties,
endeavored to spread their religion among the differ-
ent Indian tribes. The long contest between England
and France finally terminating in the conquest of
Canada, and the total destruction of French sove-
reiznty on this continent, furnished many a battle-
field on tiis frontier, and caused it to be again and
again deluged with blood. The constant strugole
between these parties, the atiempts of each to enlist
the sympathies and assistance of their Indian neigh-
bors, and the crucliics enacted by them, would furnish
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matter for many a tale. Volumes might be filled
with these legends and traditionary stories.

It has been thought advisable to compile a small
“Guide ” for this route exclusively, in order to give
travelers a short sketch of the most interesting points.
The dates have been obtained from the most reliable
sources, many of them being taken from copies of
the original documents. It is hoped this unpretend-
ing volume may serve to amuse those passing over
the route, as well as to induce others to take the trip.
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BUFFALO.

This is the place from which the “ Northern Tour”
commences.

Burraro was first settled in 1796; in 1798 it con-
tained eight houses. Except being the place where
Indian councils were frequently held, nothing of
interest occurred here till the breaking out of the
war between this country and Great Britain.

On the 30th of Dec. 1812, Buffalo and Black
Rock, both of them flourishing villages, were burned
by the British and Indians. In Buffalo but two
buildings, a dwelling house and blacksmith shop, were

suffered to stand.
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In 1822 -23 the “Superior” was built, and was
the first steamboat that ever passed out of Buffalo
Creek.

The first American vessel on Lake Erie was built
in 1797, near Erie, Pa., and was called the “ Wasn-
wveroN.” She navigated this Lake but cne season,
and was then sold to a Canadian, who took her out
of the water at Chippewa, and placed her upon truck
wheels, drawn by oxen, and in this way conveyed
her over the Portage to Queenstown, where she was
again launched. She sailed for Kingston, but was
never heard of after leaving the Niagara River.

Buffalo is now a city of about 50,000 inhabitants,
and is truly the “Queen City of the Lakes.”

RUINS OF FORT ERIE.,

Almost opposite Buffalo, on the Canadian shore,
can be seen the ruins of Forr Erme. This Fort was
taken on the 27th of May 1813, by the Americans
under Gen. Prrsron, afterward governor of Virginia,
then in command of Black Rock.



BLACK ROCK. 81

The English obtained possession of it, and it was
again captured by the Americans on the 3d July
1814. A short time afterward it was besieged by the
English, under Lieut. General Drummonp. After
a siege of fifty days, General BrowN determined to
make a sortie; this was accordingly done on the
17th September. So great was the British loss, that
the siege was abandoned, and General Drummonp
broke up his camp, and retired to Chippewa.

There is a railroad from Buffalo to Niagara Falls,
a distance of twenty-two miles— which is usually run
in an hour— passing a large portion of the way upon
the bank of the Niagara River. Just after leaving
Buffalo, a military work is passed upon the banks of
the river Niagara, belonging to the United States, and
called Forr Porrer, in honor of the late General
Perer B. PortER.

Brick Rock is a small vﬂlage situated upon the
river, and possessing a good harbor. The first steam-
boat that navigated lake Erie, called « Wark 1N THE

‘WareRr,” was built at this place, in 1818.
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The cars make a short stop at the village of
ToNAWANDA, situated at the junction of a small stream
of the same name, with the Niagara, The railroad
crosses this stream, and also the Erie canal

Opposite Tonawanda is Granp IsLan, about twelve
miles long. There is a small bay at the foot of it
called “Bursr Smip Bav,” deriving its name from
the following incident:

After the capture of Quebec, and the consequent
cession of this country to the English, the French
at Schlosser determining that their vessels should
not fall into the hands of the English, put into this
bay, and set fire to them. Within the last few
years persons have succeeded in bringing up from
the remains of these vessels, camnon-shet, pieces of
iron, d&o.

Between Tonawanda and the Falls, the railroad
crosses a small stream called Cavoca Crerx. It was
near this that, in 1679, La Sais built the “ Grirrin,”
the vessel which, one hundred and seventy-three
years ago, first sziled upon the western Lakes. TLa
Sarre and Father Hesweriy embarked in her, and
set sail upon a voyage of discovery; they, however
left her at Mackinac, and the Griffin proceeded on
her voyage, reached Green Bay, took in a carge
of rich furs, started on her return, and was never
heard of after.
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BCHLOSSER

At ScHLOSSER, two miles above the Falls, was an
old French fort; this passed into the hands of the
English, and an old chimney is still standing which
belonged to their mess-house.

CorppEwa, a small Canadian village is directly
opposite this place. Just above the village are the
Plains of Chippewa. This was the battle ground on
the 5th of July, 1814, of the Americans under General
Browx, and the English commanded by General Riar.
At this place two small streams empty into the
Niagara; the upper one is called Streer’s, and tho
lower and larger CmippEwA CreEx. The English
were posted behind and below the Chippewa; the
Americans occupied a position near Street’s Creek;
both streams were crossed by bridges. About noon
a party of British, militia and Indians, began to

annoy the American picquets, soon after which
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General Porter, with a force of volunteers, militia,
and friendly Indians of the “Six Nations,” attacked
them. They at first gave way; but hearing that
General Ri1sr was advancing with a large force, they
rallied, and again attacked the Americans. This
was about four o’clock in the afternoon. ¢ General
Scorr was ordered to their assistance, and was soon
engaged in conflict with a superior force. At this
moment General Porter’s command had given way,
and fled in every direction, notwithstanding his per-
sonal gallantry and great exertions to stay their flight.”
“The retreat of the volunteers caused the left flank
of General Scorr’s brigade to be very much exposed.
Major Jessup ordered his battalion “to support arms
and advance,” and so galling a discharge was poured
upon the enemy as to cause them to retire.”* The
enemy retreated across the Chippevwa, hotly pursued
by General Scorr, till within half-musket shot of
the bridge. The lateness of the hour then induced
General Browx to order his forces to retire to camp.

Just below this point, commence the Rapids of
the Niagara; the descent of the river being fifty
feet before it reaches the brink of the ereat fall,
Visitors sometimes cxpress surprise at the short dis-
tance the Falls can be heard; this depends altogcther

* Brown's Oflisial Dispateh, Nilos Gth,
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upon the state of the atmosphere. During fine, dry
weather they are heard but a short distance; but
just before a storm they can be heard from sixteen
to eighteen miles. It has passed into a common
saying in the surrounding country, “We are going
to have a storm, the Falls roar so loudly.”

We are now arrived at the village of the Falls,
and after locating ourselves in some one of the many
comfortable hotels with which this place abounds,

we prepare for a visit to the

FALLS OF NTAGARA
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FALLS OF NIAGARA.

There is a degree of excitement attending a first
visit 10 Nr1acana, that perhaps is uncqualed by the
anticipation of any other sight.  To fucl that you are
within a few paces of this world-wide wonder, secms
to inspire the dullest almost to enthusinsm, and this«:
fecling is not lessened by the first sight of the Rapids,
in crossing the bridge connecting the main land to
the Islands.

The Rarrvs arve far from being the most uninte-
resting feature of Niagara. Many, however, do not
appreciate them at first sight; they are so desirous
of sceing the greater wonder, that they bestow but a
passing glance upon them. To those who pause,
and contemplate, there is about them something ex-
ceedingly beautiful and sublime. You feel yourself
regarding them in their mad whirls and plunges
rushing on to the awful brink, as somcthing almost
liaman, and scem to have a feeling of pity for the
fate that awaits them.

Arriving upon “Barn TsLaxp,” visitors are requested
to enter their names in a book, kept for that purpose,

and pay a small fee, which gives them the privilege
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of crossing the bridge at their pleasure during the
year. A short bridge leads to Goar IsLanp, and
the first visit is generally made to the Ayericax Fair

Goat Island has, by the good taste of the owner,
been left in a state of nature, except so far as clearing
out the underbrush, and making paths convenient
for visitors; and the approach to the Fall is through
the primitive forest, whose overhanging branches
almost entirely exclude the sunshine, and this sub-
dued light adds another charm to the scene. There
is a path leading to the very brink of the fall, and
one involuntarily clasps tichtly the shrubs and trees
upon the bank, while endeavoring to catch a glimpse
of the abyss. Should the day be one of sunshine,
the rainbow below the Fall is well worth traveling
scores of miles to behold. ZLooking down upon a
rainbow is certainly something different from every
day experience.

Connected with Goat Island, by a rustic bridge, is
Luxs IsLaxp; and it was here that, three years
since, a most tragical occurrence took place. A
young man playfully approached a little girl, who
was standing upon the extreme verge of the island,
without her perceiving him, and upon his addressing
her, became so frightened that her foot slipped, and
she was precipitated into the current. He plunged

in after her, and succeeded in catching hold of her
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clothes, and endeavored to stay their headlong course by
scizing a small shrub upon the bank, but the treach-
erous earth gave way, and the next instant they were
carriecd over the fall. Their bodies were found; that
of the little girl, on the rocks just below the place
where they fell, but that of the young man had drifted
down nearly to the upper Suspension Bridge.

We now resume our way to the Horse-Suor Farw.
This fall, viewed as a single object, is unquestionably
one of the most sublime things in nature. It is
impossible, by description, or by penciling, to convey
an idea to the reader of the effect produced upon
the beholder.  One of the things about Niagara that
males a strong impression upon the spectator is the
motion, and this of course is entirely lost in a drawing.
This, no doubt, is the reason why the pictures of
Niagara fall so far short of the reality. There is a
peculiarity, too, in the color of the water, which is of
the brightest green, and the upheaving of the snow-
white foam contrasting so vividly with the emerald
hue, needs to be seen to bo appreciated.

There is a small tower built upon a ledge of rocks,
upon the brink of this Fall; it is forty-five fect in
height, with winding steps to the top. It was built
in 1833, and is connceted by Terrapin Bridge with
Gout Island.  Within the past winter some of the

rocks near the tower, and between the tower and
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Lsland have fallen away, and there is a large rock
that has not fallen, but slipped down scveral feet,
where it remains.

No one having time, should omit crossing the river;
it has always been said, that nowhere does a person
realize the height and grandeur of the Falls, as from
the ferry boat; and it is from the center of the river
that they are viewed as a whole, and the eye at one
glance is enabled to rest upon them in their undivided
grandeur and sublimity.

The path to the right, near the Biddle Stair-case,
leads to a magnificent cave, appropriately named,
when it was first discovered many years since, AoLus’
Cave, or Cave or tue Winps. This cave is about
one hundred and twenty feet across, sixty feet wide,
and one hundred feet high; it is situated directly
behind the center fall, which, at the bottom is more
than one hundred and nine feet wide, and since the
rocks have been excavated and steps made, visitors
can pass into the cave, and entircly behind the sheet
of water. Beyond this cave, at the fuot of Luna
Island, there is an open space where persons may
amuse themselves at leisure upon the rocks over
which the floods are pouring, and then venture in as
far as they please behind the whole American fall.
Visitors can very often, when the wind blows down

the river, pass a considerable distance behind the
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sheet of water within the cave, without getting wet.
The view presented in the cave, in connection with
the tremendous and astounding roar of waters, will
enable visitors to appreciate the following beautiful

and graphic lines of BraTNaRD:

The thoughts are strange that crowd upon my brain,
‘While I look upward to thee. It would seem

As if God poured thee from his hollow hand,

Aud hung his bow upon thy awful front,

And spoke in that loud voice, which seemed to him
‘Who dwelt in Patmos for his Saviow’s sake,

‘The sound of many waters ;’ and hath bade

Thy sound to chronicle the ages back,

And notch His centuries in the eternal rock.

Deep calleth unto deep. And what are we,

That hear the question of the voice sublime ?

Oh! what are all the notes that ever rung

From war’s vain trumpet, by thy thundering side ?
Yea, what is all the riot man can make

In his short life, to thy unceasing roar ?

And yet, bold babbler, what art thou to Him

Who drowned a world, and heaped the waters far
Above its loftiest mountains ? — a light wave,
That breaks and whispers of its Maker’s might,

A very pleasant way of accomplishing a large
amount of sight-seeing in two or three hours is, after

returning from the island, to take one of the many
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carriages there in waiting, drive down on the Amer-
ican side, visiting the Devil’s HoLg, cross the great
Suspension Bripge at Lewiston, and retwrn on the
Canada side, visiting Brock’s MoxuMENT on Queens-
ton Heights, battle-field at Luxpy’s Lang, and the
different points of interest about the Canadian side
at the Falls, and then cross the river by the FErry.
Those who do not desire to cross in the boat, can
cross on the upper Suspension Bridge.

TasLe Rock is about a hundred rods above the
landing. In the spring of 1850 a large portion of it
broke away, and has changed the appearance of i
very much. The time of its falling was fortunately
the dinner hour of the hotels, consequently, but one
or two persons were on the rock at the time, and
they saw the danger in time to escape. There are
portions of it still threatened with the same fate. It
was upon Table Rock that these beautiful lines of

Mrs. SiGorrNEY were written:

Flow on, forever, in thy glorious robe

Of terror and of beauty. God hath set

His rainbow on thy forehead, and the cloud
Mautles around thy feet ; and he doth give
Thy voice of thunder power to speak of Him
Eternally— bidding the lip of man

Keep silence, and upon thy rocky altar pour

Incense of sweet praise.
3
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LUNDY’S LANE.

One mile and a half from the Falls is the battle-
ground of Lunpy’s Lave. The battle was fought
on the 25th of July, 1814. The American army,
under command of Major-General Brown, had taken
a position at Chippewa. About noon, on that day,
he received information that the British were landing
at Lewiston, preparatory to marching to Schlosser,
and capturing a yuantity of baggage and stores there
deposited.  To draw the British from this move, Gen-
eral Browx decided to put his troops in motion toward
Queenston.  General Scorr with the «1st brigade
Towson’s artillery, and all the drageons and mount-
ed men,” were put in march, to report the movements
of the ememy. When General Scorr reached the
Falls, he found the English directly in his front, a
narrow strip of woods only intervening.  Supposing
that a portion of the British had crossed the Niagara,
what was his astonjshment to find that the information
received by General Browx was incorrect, and that
here was a large force drawn up in order of battle,

a force larger than that they had encountered a few
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duys before on the pluins of Chippewa. To pause
was to be lost, and General Scorr's decision was to
advance without waiting for reinforcements; and for
an hour these troops sustained the conflict, before
others could be brought to their relicf. The battle
commenced at the close of a warm summer day, and
continued till near midnight. The enemy’s artillery
occupied a strong position on an eminence, and it was
found necessary to capture this artillery, and seize
the height. General Browx said to Colonel MiLrER,
“8ir, can you take that battery?” «I will try,”
was the reply, a phrase now become identified with
the memory of this gallant soldier. It was at this
battle that the original of Coorer’s «Spy” was
killed; a fitting death scene for such a character.
Returning again to the American side of the Falls,
carriages are in waiting to convey passengers over a
plank road to Lewiston, where they are to take pass-
age on the Lake Ontario Steamers. This road runs
along the great gorge supposed to have been worn
by the Falls of Niagara as they receded toward Lake
Erie. This idea is by no means without weight, as
there are persons now living near the Falls, who can
remember when they presented quite a different
appearance from the present, caused by the breaking
off of the rocks from the abrading action of water,

and frost.
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A railroad is now about being built, running through
this gorge, from the Falls to Lewiston, and will, when
completed, add still more to the pleasure of the trip.

Two miles below the Falls, the river is crossed by
a Suspension Bridge. This was built a few years
since, but was not finished in the style at first designed,
and presents a striking contrast to the large bridge at

Lewiston.

MINERAL SPRING.

Near the Suspension Bridge is the “MiNeRAL
Serine,” welling up among the rocks, into a stone
basin. The water is strongly impregnated with sul-
phur, and contains also lime and magnesia. A chaste
little temple covers this famous Spring.

A short distance below, we come to the WHIRLPOOL.
This is formed by the river making a bend almost at
right angles, and the current being extremely swift,
it forms a large whirlpool. Flights of steps have been
placed down the bank, so that the descent can be
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made with perfect safety; and although somewhat
fatiguing, yet one is compensated for the trouble.
The banks of the river are so high, that, from the top,
the peculiar effect of the whirl is lost.

VIEW OF THE WHIRLPOOKL.
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DEVIL’S HOLE

Three miles from the Falls, we come to the Devir’s
Hore. It was at this point, on the 14th September,
1763, that a party of French and Indians waylaid a
detachment of English on their return from Schlosser
to Fort Niagara, then in possession of the English.
A small stream here crosses the road, and, from the
fact of its waters having been reddened by the blood
of the slaughtered, it was called “Broopy Ruw,”
which name it still retains. The French and Indians
had laid their plans so well, and so entirely surrounded
the English, that only two remained to tell the tale.
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One of these, a Mr. Srepmax, residing at Schlosser,
was on horseback; the Indians seized the bridle, and
attempted to lead him into the woods; SrepMaN drew
a knife, cut the bridle loose, and, being mounted upon
a powerful animal, and spurring it to its utmost speed,
escaped amid a shower of balls. He afterward insti-
tuted a claim to the possession of the land round
which he rode on his escape, on pretence of its having
been a gift to him from the Indians; they supposing
him to be endowed with some supernatural powers,
from his escaping from them; and he contested the
matter at law, with the persons who had purchased
their title from the state, but the question was decided
against him.

The other was a lad of the name of MarTurws, a
drummer. Seeing death at the hands of the savages
inevitable, he made a leap from the bank, and his
drum-strap catching in a tree, he was saved from
instant destruction.  Extricating himself from the
branches, he descended to the water, and crept silently
under cover of the bank to Fort Niagara. He after-
ward resided on the Canada side of the river, below
Queenston; carried on the business of chair-making,
and lived to relate his strange escape till the good old

age of ninety.
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LEWISTON LANDIKNG.

LEWISTON.

Three miles below the Devir’s Howrg, is the vil-
lage of Lmwiston. It lies upon a beautiful tract
of country, which extends south from the mountain
ridge to Luke Ontario, and east and west two hundred
miles. The view from the top of the mountain, just
before you begin to descend, looking toward Lewiston,
is very fine; the windings of the Niagara, the different
points jutting into the river, the peculiar hue of the
water; the forest extending, in many places apparently
unbroken, to the Lake; Fort Niagara, and the Cana-
dian village of Niagara, at the mouth of the river; the
highlands of Toronto, forty miles distant, but distinctly
seen on a bright day, their dark tints vividly contrasting
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with the deep blue waters of Ontario ——all combine
to give a character and varicty to the sccne rarely
equaled. On the left hand is a point of land on
which, dwing the last war, was erccted a battery,
called Forr Grey. Here the French while in posses-
sion of the country, erccted a small railway, to enable
them to transport their goods up the mountain. It
was composed of timbers laid firmly upon foundations
of stone, and the power made use of was capstans
and windlasses. The timbers have long since mould-
ered away, but the course of the railway can still be
ascertained by the stone abutments which remain.

In Father Hensepin's account of his voyage he
speaks of the ¢ three mountains ”— he must have in-
cluded first, the high bank of the river, next the pla-
teau upon which the towers of the Suspension Bridge
are built, and last, the main ridge or mountain.

Lewiston, before the building of the Eric Canal, was
a place of considerable importance. At that time
large quantities of goods, and salt from Onondaga,
designed for the western country, were brought in
vessels to Lewiston, and carried in wagons across the
Portage to Schlosser, and then re-shipped. Upon the
completion of the canal, this trade ceased, and the
village has increased but slowly.

The Suspension Bridge, at this point, is one of the

most remarkable works of the day. Spanning the
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Niagara, it is supported by ten cables —five upon a
side —resting upon towers of cut stone, the ends
running into the earth, and secured to anchors drilled
into the solid rock, six or seven feet. Each cable is
composed of two hundred and fifty strands of No.
10 wire, placed parallel and firmly bound together,
the whole length, by another wire. The distance
between the puints of suspension, or span, is one
thousand and forty feet; width of road-way, twenty
feet. This, the longest suspension bridge in the world,
was crected by a few gentlemen upon each side of the
river, in 1850, under the superintendence of E. W.
SerrELL, C. E.

The law authorizing the construction of the worlk,
required that, upon its completion, it should be tested
by one of the Judges of the Supreme Court.  After
he had examined the structure in detail, a number of
wagons loaded with gravel and sand, and several car-
riages, were driven upon the bridge, extending the
whole length; but the weight of these made no im-
pression upon it, so substantially is it built. The loca-
tion of this bridge is one of the most desirable points
between the two lakes for a railroad crossing, being
at the head of navigation from Lake Ontario, and on a
level with the great plain already spoken of, extending

from near Oswego westward, through Canada.
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QUEENSTON,

The village of Queexstow, at the Canadian termi-
nation of the bridge, is celebrated as the scene of one
of the hardest fights during the last war with Great
Britain.

This occurred on the 13th of October, 1812. A
portion of the American army, commanded by Colonel
Vax RENSSELAER, crossed the river early in the morn-
ing, with the expectation that the militia were to be
brought over as rapidly as the number of their boats
would allow. After a severe fight, the Americans
obtained possession of the English batteries; but this
victory, so dearly won, was lost to them from the
cowardice of the troops remaining on the American
side of the river, who, at this moment, refused to
cross, alleging the unconstitutionality of the act. The
few brave men who held possession of the heights
were wearied and worn out, and with but little ammu-
nition remaining, their case seemed almost hopeless.
A large reinforcement of troops from Fort George now
arrived under command of General Brock; yet even

under these discouraging circumstances, they resolved
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to make one effort more, and gallantly eharged upon
the advancing troops. The English at first gave way,
and it was in attempting to rally them that General
Brock wus killed, and his aid, Colonel McDoxavLp, re-
ceived a mortal wound. They were once more brought
to the attack, and longer resistance being hopeless, the
Americans surrendered to General Suearg, who had
taken command upon the death of General Brocx.

A monument erected to the memory of General
Brock stands on the Heights. This was commenced
in the year 1824, and finished in 1820, at which time
the bodies of General Brocx and his aid, Colonel
McDowarp, were brought from Niagara and reinterred
with military honors.

In the spring of 1839, a miscreant, who had been
obliged to leave Canada for his participation in the
political troubles of 1838, conceived the idea of de-
molishing this monument, crected to the memory of a
good man and gallant soldier, and succeeded in plac-
ing a quantity of powder in the lower part, with a
slow-match attached. The explosion tock place about
four v’clock In the morning, and the report was like
that of one of the heaviest pieces of artillery.  The
explosion shattered the monument very mueh, but
did not entirely destroy it.  The fecling of indignation
against the author of this outrage was not greater op

the Canadian than on the American side of the river,
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for General Brock was a man highly esteemed by
both parties.

The view on page sixty-three exhibits the monument
as it now appears, since the attempt to destroy it.
Some steps have been taken to repair it; but for some
reason, it has not been accomplished.

The site of the village of Lewiston was the home of
the Mohawk Indians, after leaving the banks of the
viver bearing their name. This was once the resi-
dence of their celebrated chief, Joserr Brant, « Thay-
endenega,” who, with his followers, here formed a
considerable village. TURNER, in his interesting his-
tory of “The Holland Purchase,” gives an account of
an Episcopal church at this place, which will be read
with interest: “There was a log church, in which
the Episcopal service was usually read upon Sundays,
by some one attached to the British garrison at Niag-
ara; and occasionally a British army chaplain, or a
missionary, would be present.” The Protestant Epis-
copal Church, «in any history of its origin and pro-
gress in western New York, may well assume that,
beyond the garrison at Niagara, Brant’s rude log
church was the spot where its services were first held.
Upon a humble log church there could, of course, be
no belfry or steeple. The bell that was brought from
the Mohawlk, was hung upon a cross-bar resting in the
crotch of a tree, and rang by a rope attached.”
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Three miles from Lewiston is an Indian village of
the Tuscaroras. Here is a small church, with a res-
ident missionary; the services are quite interesting to
strangers; the minister delivers his discourse, a sen-
tence at a time, in English, and their chief translates
it into the Indian tongue. It is a pleasant drive of six
miles from the Falls, and is visited by a great number
of travelers.

We are now ready to embark in one of the beau-
tiful American steamers, which are unsurpassed for
beauty of decoration, comfort, and convenience of
arrangements, or seaworthy qualities.

The character of the scenery of the Niagara is en-
tirely changed at Lewiston. The river, after emerging
from the high banks at the brow of the mountain,
sweeps on in a majestic and tranquil current to the
lake, as though wearied with the fierce strife in which
it had been engaged. The shores lose their wildness,
but retain their beauty, and are lined on either side,
with fine farms and beautiful groves.

The first stopping-place is the village of Younas-
TOWN, six miles below Lewiston. This is a small town
named after its founder, the late Jous Youne, Esq.
Its site was the battle-ground, on the 24th of July,
1759, of the French and Indians, under the command
of Mons. D’ Ausrey, and the English and Indians, com-

manded by General Pripeavx, and, after his death,
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by Sir Witriam Jornson. This battle resulted in the
capture of Fort Niagara.

The Canadian village of Nr1searA 1s situated oppo-
site. Youngstown; it was formerly called NEwARK.
Fort GeorcE was taken by the Americans, on the
29th of May, 1813. On the 10th of December, of
the same year, the village of Newark was burned by
the orders of General McCrure. The fort was de-
stroyed at the same time, and was never rebuilt. The
remains of the old embankments, a short distance
above the present village, can be distinctly seen from
the steamer.

About one mile below these embankments is a fort,
constructed by the British, called Fort MASSASAUGUA.
A small garrison is usually stationed there.

FORT MASSASAUGUA.
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FORT NIAGARA,

On the American side, is one of the most interesting
points on this frontier. In 1668, La Saire here
crected some buildings enclosed with palisades, which
were burned by the Senecas in 1675. To revenge
this, was one cause of the French expedition, under
DewronviLLE, into the country of the Senecas. On
their return, in 1687, they took formal possession, in
the name of the king of France, of the land, to build
a fort thereon. In 1688, orders were received by the
Sicur Despereires, the commandant of the fort, from
the Marquis De Dexosviiie, “to demolish the forti-
fication, with the exception of the cabins and quar-
ters,” and to take a memorandum “ of the condition in
which we leave said quarters which will remain entire,
to maintain the possession his majesty and the French
have for a long time had on this continent.” Among
the matters enumerated in this memorandum, was “a
lurge, framed, wooden cross, cighteen feet in height,”
and bearing an inscription, of which that upon the

cross is a facsimile, “ which was creeted on last good
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Friday, by all the officers, and solemnly blessed by
Rev. Father MiLiET.”

The place seems to have been abandoned by the
French from this time till 1725, at which time the
mess-house and other storehouses were built.

On the 6th of July, 1759, General PripEavx land-
ed on the lake shore, just below the mouth of the
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river, with a large furce of English, and a ¢ thousand
fighting men ” of the Indians, and besieged Niagara.
The battle before alluded to in the sketch of Younas-
TownN, took place on the 24th; and on the 25th, the
English took possession of the fortification. They
retained it until 1796, when it was given up to the
Americans. It was again taken by the English on
the night of the 19th December, 1813, and held by
them till after the peace of 1815.

Within a few years, this fort has been thoroughly
repaired, and a new wall constructed. During the
progress of these repairs, many relics of former days
were found. The entrances to several underground
passages were discovered, but owing to their ruinous
state, they were not entered: could this have been
done, no doubt many interesting discoveries would
have been made.

In the dungeons of the mess-house were formerly
the remains of many instruments of torture, and
chains firmly fastened in the wall. The walls were
covered with names scratched upon them, many ap-
parently with a nail. A French gentleman visited
here a few years since, and in his explorations, found
among these names that of an ancestor who had mys-
teriously disappeared during a period of political ex-
citement in France; thus proving that these dungeons
were sometimes used for state prisoners. Could the
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walls of the old “mess house,” which can be seen
from the boat, be gifted with speech, what strange
tales they could relate! In these halls, the polished
French, and “gentle ladies” had held their revels,
and mingling with them were the “red warriors,”
the mere recital of some of whose deeds of cruelty
would cause a shudder. After the occupation by the
English, it was a favorite post, and strange and varied
were the scenes which passed within its walls. The
traditions and stories connected with this old fort
would fill volumes.

There are two lines of American steamers leaving
Lewiston daily,— the Express Live at 12 o’clock,
by which passengers are enabled to see Toronto and
the other towns upon the Canadian side of lake Ontario,
and arrive in Montreal the following afternoon, passing
the Thousand Islands and the Rapids by daylight.
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TORONTO.

This city, formerly called Lirtie Yorx, is cele-
brated in history as the place where General Pixe
was killed by the explosion of a magazine, at the time
of ils capture by the Americans, Apiil 27th, 1813. 1t
now contains about twenty-five thousand inhabitants,
and is one of the most flowrishing of her majesty’s
Canadian towns.

The Usirep Srares Marw Lixg, running upon the
American side, lcaves Lewiston at 3 o’clock, » m.
After leaving Forr N1ocARs, passengers have a pleas-
ant sail along the shore of the beautiful Ontario, which
is interspersed with flourishing villages and fine farms,
until they arrive at the Genesee viver.  The river is
navigable five miles, and the steamboat landing at that
point is within the limits of the city of Rochester.

The lower falls of the Genesee are about half a
mile above the landing. The Indians called this Gas-
coucnacou; and it is described in a letter, written in
1775, as “a river unknown to geographers, and filled
with rapids and waterfalls”  The Genesee, below the
Falls, is a quict stream, shut in by lofty banks, and



GENESEE RIVER. 75

its course being exceedingly winding, adds much to
its beauty. On the bank of this river, three miles
below the present city of Rochester, the first Ameri-
can vessel was built, in 1798. She was of thirty tons
burden, and was called the ¢ Jemima.”

After leaving the Genesee, the steamers make no
stop till they arrive at OswEeco, where passengers can
take the cars in the morning, and arrive at ALBANY in
time for the boats and cars for New Yorxk and Bos-
10N, the same afternoon.
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OSWEGO.

The Indian name of this place was CHoUEGUEN.
The first settlement was. made in 1727, by the Eng-
lish, who built a trading house and fortified it, on the
west side of the river. This gave great displeasure
to the French; and in July of the same year, the
Marquis BeavrArxars, Governor General of Canada,
called upon the English to surrender their fort. This
modest request was not complied with.

In 1755, the English built a fort on the east side
of the river, on the present site of Fort Ontario.
The first English vessel on this lake was built at
Choueguen, and launched June 28th, 1755. On the
11th of August, 1756, the Marquis D MonrtcALM
appearcd before the place with a large force of French
and Indians, and after a siege of three days, the Eng-
lish surrendered. The French obtained possession of
a large amount of property, consisting of arms, pro-
visions, and several vessels; also, « three boxes of sil-
ver, and the military chest containing £18,000.” The
traditions connected with the seizure of this silver and
money, are no doubt the origin of the schemes of dig-

ging for treasures so often entered into, and even at
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the present time going on, in the neighborhood of the
old fort.

After taking possession of their plunder, the French
entirely destroyed the fortification, and returned pos-
" session of the land to the Onondaga Indians, “to be
held by them forever.”

1t was rebuilt by the English about the year 1759.
Just before the American Revolution, they very much
strengthened this fortification. They retained posses-
sion of it till 1796, when it was given up to the
United States. An attack was made by the English
upon this post, in May 1814, when it was com-
manded by Colonel Mitchell, who succeeded in retreat-
ing 1 good order, and securing a large portion of his
stores. The Lnglish landed and destroyed the ord-
nance, and, taking a quantity of property from the
village, embarked and retired.

Fort Ontario has, within a few years, been thor-
oughly repaired, and is now a very strong position.
May the time never again come when its guns shall
be needed to repulse an enemy from our shores.

Osweco is now a flourishing city of about fifteen
thousand inhabitants. Here is the tcrmination of a
railroad connecting at Syracuse with the central line
of railroad to Albany. A new railroad will soon be
built to Binghampton, and when finished, will muke

Oswego the great coal depot of lake Ontario and
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Canada. After the completion of this road, the differ-
ence in distance between Oswego and New York,
and Oswego and Philadelphia, will be only about
twenty miles. Oswego is also the terminus of the
Oswego canal, connecting at Syracuse with the Erie
canal. It is a place of great commercial importance,
there being a large commerce between this port and
the upper Lakes and Canada. Here, also, are some
of the finest flouring mills in the world, and immense
quantities of fluur are annually exported. The large
starch factory, at this place, forwarded specimens of
its manufacture to the World’s Fair, and received a
premium.

The steamer leaves Oswego about eight o’clock in
the morning, and, afler a pleasant sail of three hours,
arrives at the naval post of Sacxer1’s HaRBOR.

This is a small town situated on the north-eastern
shore of lake Ontario, distant from Oswego about
forty-five miles, and twenty from the river St. Law-
rence. It was purchased and taken possession of by
Mr. Sacxerr, of Jamiuca, L. I, in 1799. In 1801
only three families had settled here, in consequence
of a prejudice at that time existing against settlements
on the lake shore, on account of the supposed un-
heulthiness of so large a body of fresh water.

This place was the great naval station on the Lalke

during the last war with Great Britain. All the
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vessels of war, with the exception of the Oxgrpa, which
was built at Oswego in 1808, were built at this port,
under the superintendence of Henry Eckrorp, Esq,
who died a few years since at C'onstantinople, whither
he had gone to superintend the building of some
vessels for the sultan.

In the ship-house, on the point at the entrance of
the harbor, is now remaining, in a state of good pres-
ervation, a ship of the line of one hundred guns, which
was commenced in 1814; but peace being declared
soon after, it was never finished. In thirty days from
the time the timber was growing in the woods, the
ship was advanced to its present state, and it was the
intention of the builder in sixty days more to have
had her ready for sea.

Sackett’s Harbor was attacked by the English, com-
manded by Sir Georee Provosr, on the 30th May
1813. They effected a landing, but after a severe
fight were driven back to their boats, and retreated,
leaving many of their wounded. Unfortunately, the
officers in charge of the naval stores, fearing they
might fall into the hands of the English, set fire to
the buildings, and the immensely valuable stores taken
at “Lirree York,” were consumed.

There is an extensive military post here, called
“ Mapisoy Darracgs.”

In 1816, the first American stcamer on this Lake,
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was built here, and called the Oxtarrc. She was about
one hundred and ten feet lung on deck, had a beam
engine, thirty-four inch cylinder, and four feet stroke.
It was then considered unsafe to have any structure on
deck, larger than a small cabin on the quarterdeck for
the ladies. The Ontario was finally laid by in 1831.

There is a railroad nearly completed from Sackett’s
Harbor to Pierrepoint Manor, a distance of about
sixteen miles, and there connecting with the Rome and
Cape Vincent Railroad.

The Express Line of Steamers, after leaving Toronto,
make their first stop at Cape VixncexT, a small village
delightfully situated at the entrance of the river St
Lawrence. This, together with the neighboring village
of CunaumonTt, was named in honor of one of the early
settlers, M. Vineest LE Ray pe Ceavvont. It has
been quite noted for having been the residence of
several political adherents of the Emperor Napoleon,
and a number of articles of his furniture and books
were once deposited here, preparatory, it is said, to his
sceking here an asylum.

A railroad has just been completed from this plaee
to Rome, by which passengers leaving here in the
morning, can reach New York the same evening.
This road passes through the pretty village of Browx-
VILLE, the residence of the late Major General Broww;

also the villige of Warmrtoww, situated on Black



'LNEDNTA TdVD #® 10430 aVOH-IIVd
: 2paar







GRAND ISLAND. 87

river, and one of the most flourishing and well-built

towns in the state.
‘ between Cape Vincent and Kingston, is

sLAND, belonging to the English. Two small
t into either side of this island; and at this
 is contemplated, the coming year, to construct
b canal, a mile and a half long. By this means
tls will avoid going round the head of the island,
diminish the distance about one half,
Three miles below Cape Vincent is CarLETON IsLAND,
which is about three miles long and about one mile
wide. At its head are the ruins of a fortification
erected by the French at an early day; these can be
distinetly seen from the steamer, many of the chim-
neys remaining quite entire. At this island the
French sunk two vessels, to prevent their falling into
the hands of the English. The water being very clear,
the remains of these can be distinctly seen, filled with
gravel and stones.

The United States Line of Steamers, after leaving
Sackets’s Harbor, in crossing over to Kingston, pass
between the islands lying at the foot of lake Ontario,

and those lying within the St. Lawrence.
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KINGSTON—UPPER CANADA.

The Indian name of this place is Caparacqui. The
French commenced building a fort here in 1672,
under the orders of M. DE CourcrLLEs, then Gov-
ernor of Canada. He returned to France the same
year, and the fort was finished the next spring, under
the orders of his successor, Count Frowrtewac, and
called by his name. The command of it was after-
ward given to M. D La Sartg, who, in 1678, rebuilt
it with stone. The same year a bark of ten tons was
launched. In 1688, upon hearing the news of the
capture of Montreal by the Indians, the garrison set
fire to the two boats they had built there, and aban-

doned the fort, leaving matches connected with their
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store of powder, to blow up the works. By some
mismanagement, this was not effected, and upon the
Indians’ landing there some time after, they found
quite a stock of powder remaining.

This position was again garrisoned by the French, in
1689, and held by them till 1758, at which time an
expedition, under command of Colonel BrapsTrEET,
embarked from Oswego, and after two days hard
fighting, he obtained possession of it, and destroyed
the fort and vessels, and such articles as he could not
bring away. The peace of 1762 extinguished the
French litle, and, after its acquisition by the English,
its name was changed to Kingston.

This was an important naval station of the English,
during the war of 1812, and several ships, of the
largest class, were built here. The post was can-
nonaded by the American fleet under Commodore
CHAUNCEY, In 1812.

Kinesrox is now one of the most important towns
in Canada, and, next to Quebec, is the most strongly
fortified.

On Cepar Israwp is a martello tower ; on a point
overlooking the town and navy-yard, is a strong forti-
fication, called Fort Hewry, and the harbor is defend-
ed by several martello towers. After the union of the
Provinces, this was, for a few years, the seat of gov-
ernment. The building for the public offices and the
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market, is one of the finest on the continent. In front
of it is a large battery, and a martello tower standing
on a shoal in the harbor.

Passengers have a fine view of the city and fortifi-
cations from the steamer, in entering and departing
from the harbor. On leaving Kingston, we enter
upon the river St. Lawrexce. The Thousand Islands
commence here, but being quite large, are not numer-
ous until you approach Cravron

This is a small village upon the American side, and
is noted as the great rafting station of E. G. Merrick,
Esq., where large ship-timber and staves are formed
into rafts, and floated down the St. Lawrence to Mon-
treal and Quebec. These rafts are often passed in de-
scending the river, and from their requiring many men
to navigate them, and their erecting upon them little
huts for shelter, at a little distance they present the
appearance of a village. Mr. Merriok has here an
extensive shipyard, wherein many of the vessels nav-
ivaling the Lukes, and several of the fine steameis
belonging to the American Line, were built.

This is also the residence of the well known W
Jounsor, who figured in the Jate Canadian rebellion.
In consequence of his participation in these troubles,
he was obliged to seclude himself from the search
instituted for him by troops under the command of the

lute General Wortn, It was during this seclusion
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upon one of the islands in the neighborhood, that his
daughter “ Kate ” acquired her title of “ Queen of the
Thousand Islands,” from her visiting and carrying him
qrovisions, in her canoe.

We are now in the midst of the Trousanp IsLanDs.
Persons, on hearing these islands spoken of, often
make the remark that the number must be exagger-
ated; but, on the contrary, it is not sufficient, there
being about fifteen hundred. At the lighthouse, four
miles below Clayton, eighty can be counted from the
deck of the steamboat, The following is a deserip-
tion of the Thousand Islands, written by a Frenchman
in 1664: <An infinity of little islands are at the
entrance of the lake, in such great number, and in
such variety, that the most experienced Iroquois pilots
sometimes lose themselves there, and experience con-
sidérable difficulty in distinguishing the course to be
steered in the confusion, and, as it were, the labyrinth
formed by the islands, which otherwise have nothing
agreeable beyond their raultitudc.  For these are only
huge rocks rising out of the water, covered merely
with moss or a few spruce, or other stunted wood,
whose roots spring from the clefts of the rocks, which
can supply no other aliment or moisture to these
barren trees than what the rains furnish them.”

About six miles below Clayton, upon Wells Island,
there is a small wharf, at which, in the year 1838, the
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British steamer Sir Rosrrr PrrL, while taking in
wood, was burned by the Canadian Patriots.

The next port, after leaving Clayton, is ALEXANDRIA
Bay; a romantic little place, built upon a mass of
rocks. This is a favorite resort for hunters, as well az
the disciples of Isaak Walton. Three miles below the
village is a position whence one hundred islands are in
view at once.

Our next stop is made at BrockviLLE, on the Cana-
dian side of the St. Lawrence. This is one of the
pleasantest villages in Canada, containing about two
thousand five hundred inhabitants, and was named
in honor of General Brocr, who fell at Queenston
Heights. During the last war, it was taken by the
Americans, under the command of Major Forsyrs,
who was afterward killed at La Core. Direcily op-
posite is the village of MorrisTown; the first settlers
came from Morristown, N. J., and named their new
home after the one they had left. The river, at this
point, is a mile and a half wide, and we here take
leave of the “Thousand Islands.”

The appearance of the soil changes very suddenly,
after leaving Morristown, losing its rocky character,
and becoming susceptible of the highest cultivation.
The country, on the Canadian side, is much better
cultivated than on the American, having been settled

at an earlier day. Many of these fine farms were the
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homes of Tories, who left the United States after the
Revolution. One of these was a brother of BenE-
prct ArNoLp; he died a few years since, and there
are yet some of his descendants residing in the vi-
cinity. Twelve miles below Morristown, is the port of
OGDENSBURGH.
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OGDENSBURGH.

The first settlement is believed to have been made
m 1748. Many of the Iroquois having expressed
their willingness to embrace Christianity, the Abbé
Francors Picquer, who was afterward styled the
“Apostle of the Iroquois,” was sclected to found a
mission at this place. Under his instructions, a fort
was built, called “ La Presextatior.”” In October,
1749, it was attacked by a band of Indians, believed
to be Mohawks, and although Sieur De Vassavu, then
commanding at Fort Frontenac, had sent a detach-
ment of troops to the assistance of the Abbé, they
could not prevent the destruction of two vessels and
the palisades of the fort.

This fort was built at the mouth of the Oswegat-
chie, ou the west bank; and some remains of its walls
arc still discernible.  The corner stone is in the
possession of a gentleman of this place, and has
n inscription upon it, of which we present a fac-,
simile, on page 99,

After the defeat of Montcalm, Abbé Picquert, sce-
ing the fruits of his long and laborious life about to
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pass into the hands of the
English, retired from La
Presentation, and finally re-

i

turned to France, where he
died in 1781. In the Ab-
bé’s journal he describes his

fort as being situated on

“the west side of the river
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east side is more elevated,
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and runs by a gradual in-
clination into an amphithe-
atre. A beautiful town
could hereafter be built
here.” The Abbé’s predic-
tion has been realized, and
the village of Ogdensburgh
now stands on this site.

In 1812, the British made
an unsuccessful attack upon
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this place. In February,
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1813, another attack was
made; and after a severe
conflict, the Americans, under Major Forsyrs, re-
treated to Black Lake, a few miles distant. The
British plundered the houses, burnt the barracks, and
vessels, and boats, and attempted to burn the bridge
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cver the Oswegatchie, but did not succeed, on account
of its being covered with snow and ice. Among the
valuable articles lost at this time, were two long twelve
pounders, won by General Gargs, from General Bur-
GoYNE, at Saratoga.

Ogdensburgh is now a flourishing town, and has
increased very rapidly within the last two years. The
facilities for manufactures are very considerable, and
within a few years, it will, no doubt, become a large
manufacturing town. Here is the terminus of the
Northern Railroad, running to Rouse’s Point, on Lake
Champlain, a distance of one hundred and eighteen
miles, and there connecting with the railroads to Bos-
ton and Montreal. This is one of the best constructed
roads in the United States; and the order in which it
is kept, and the able manner in which everything con-
nected with it is conducted, is highly creditable to all

concerned in its management.

We here leave the beautiful lake steamers, on
which we have thus far so delightfully journeyed, and
take passage on a smaller one, which lcaves Ogdens-
burgh in the morning, and runs down the river, over
all the rapids, directly into the city of Montreal. The
size of these steamers is necessarily governed by the
locks through which they are obliged to pass on their
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return up the river. Before thesc canals were con-
structed, steamers did not run the rapids, as they
were unable to ascend against the current. The com-
merce was then carried on by batteaus, (large flat-
boats,) which, on their return, were towed, by horses,
around the rapids.

Partics of pleasure often chartered these boats,
and, laying in a stock of provisions, choice wines, d&ec.,
procured a company of boatmen, and proceeded on
their way down the river. Daylight being necessary
to run the rapids, when night came, they would go
on shore, and remain till morning, and then resume
their journey, sometimes consuming three or four days
on the trip. The silence of the scene pleasantly
broken by the songs of the French “ voyageurs,” who
enliven their toil by singing; the grandeur of the rap-
ids; the antiquated and foreign air of the villages,
rendered these excursions, in fine weather, exceeding-
ly delightful. This passage is now made, in a fine
stecamboat, in nine hours.

Directly oppesite Ogdensburgh is the Canadian
ve of Prescorr. Here is a strong fort called
after the Duke of WerLiserow. About a mile below

the village, is WinpmirL Point, of which the accom-

villa

panying vignette gives a correct view.
A battle was fought at this point on the 13th of
Novemher, 1838, between the Canadian « Patriots,”
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under the command of Vox Sirvrrz, a Polish exile,
and the English troops. The “Patriots” landed on
the 12th, and succeeded in establishing themselves in
the Windmill, and the stone houses adjacent. After
fighting for three or four days, a few made their
escape, and the rest surrendered. The buildings, of
which the walls are still standing, were then burnt.

About four miles distant is the first rapid of the
St. Lawrence.

In the midst of this rapid is CrmMNEY IsLAND; so
called from the eircumstance that scveral chimneys
are still standing here which belonged to an old
French fortification.

The islands between Ogdensburgh and Montreal,
present an entirely different appearance from the
thousand islands, the soil being tillable, and many of
them highly cultivated.

Eighiecen miles below Ogdensburgh, we pass the
village of Wappingron. Directly in front of it is
OcpEx Istanp, which is beautiful and finely cultivated.
Upon it is the residence of J. OepeN, Esq.

Between Ogdensburgh and Waddington are but
two rapids, both of which are overcome by the pas-
senger steamers in ascending the river: freight steam-
crs pass through the canal. The steamer stops a few
moments at the little village of WiLLiamsBURGH, on the

Canadian side. Just below this placc is CrYSELER’S
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Fary, where a battle was fousht on the 10th Novem-
ber, 1813, between the English and the Amecricans
commanded by General WiLxisox, who, at that time,
was descending the river to attack Montreal; a plan
which he afterward abandoned, and for which he was
severely censured.

The boat touches at a wharf in the town of Louis-
viLLE, about thirty miles below Ogdensburgh, from
which there are stages to Massena Sprixngs, a distance
of seven miles. Thesc springs are quite celcbrated
for the cure of dyspeptics and those afflicted with
cutaneous disorders, and are becoming a place of
great resort.

We are now come to the entrance of the Lore
Satrr. This is 2 rapid of nine miles; the river is
divided, by an island, in the center; the usual passage
of the steamers is on the south side. The water in
this channel is not much broken, but runs with great
velocity, and the passage is very narrow; it 1s said,
that a raft will drift the nine miles in forty minutes.
The passage on the north of the island is called the
“Lost Channel,” a name given to it from the fact that
for many years it was believed by the French and
English boatmen, that if a batteau, or raft accidentally
drifted into it, it would inevitably be lost. Late
examinations have been made, and steamboats have

descended this channel, but the water being very
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rough and broken, and the current excecdingly rapid,
the south passage is run, as being more safe.

CorNwaLL is a fine town situated at the foot of
the Tong Sault on the Canadian side. Here vessels
on their way up the river, enter the Cornwall canal
and are locked up above the rapids just described,
coming out into the river, about twelve miles above.

A little below Cornwall, on the American side of
the river, is the Indian village of St. Rec1s.

The 45° of north latitude, the boundary line be-
tween the United States and Canada, passes through
the center of this village; and from this point the
course of the St. Lawrence is entirely within her
Majesty’s dominions. From St Regis to Coteau du
Lue, a distance of forty miles, the river expands very
much, and reccives the name of Laxe St. Francis,
and is interspersed with many beautiful islands, On
the northern side of this lake, about midway, is situ-
ated the village of Luawcasrer. This is principally a
Scotch settlement. In front of it, on a small island,
stands a large “cairn,” erected in honor of Sir Joun

CoOLBUERN.
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COTEAU DU LAC.

The Coreav is a small village at which the steamers
make a short stop. It bears unmistakable evidence of
its French origin, not only in its name, but in the style
of its buildings. Travelers discern a great difference
in the appearance of these villages, and those in the
Upper Province. The former are clusters of steep-
roofed houses, with their church in the midst. Along
the banks of the river, attention is often attracted by
large crosses of wood, surrounded by a railing; these
are erected with great solemnity under the supervision
of their priests, and the ground enclosed is considered
as consecrated.

Just below the village are the Coreav Raris.
These are much heavier than any yet passed. There
is but a short space of unbroken water between them
and the Cepagrs.

This is a little village, possessing the same marks of
French origin as the Coteau. It was in the Rapids
of the Cedars that a detachment of three hundred
men, belonging to General Amuersr’s brigade, on
their way to attack Montreal, were lost. This was
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owing to the ignorance and unskillfulness of their
pilots; and many of the bodies floated past Mon-
treal, giving the French the first intelligence of their
being on the river.

During the Revolution, the Americans constructed
some military works at this point, and it was gani-
soned by about five hundred continental troops, under
the command of Colonel Bepeir. An expedition
was fitted out from Oswegatchie, under the command
of Captain ForstERr, and attended by a large number
of Indians, led by Tuavespeweea, to capture this
place. Colonel Beprwri, hearing of their approach,
went to Montreal to demand assistance of General
Arw~orp, who was then in command, leaving the fort
at the Cedars in the charpe of Major BurTERFIELD.
Two days after, the enemy made their appearance
and commenced an attack. Not having any artillery,
they made but little impression upon the works; and
at the end of two days, only one man was wounded;
“yet, Major Burrerrrerp, intimidated by the threat,
that if any Indians were killed, it would be out of the
power of Captain Forster to restrain them from a
massacre, capitulated. The next day, Major SHER-
BUNE, Who had been dispatched by General Arworp,
to the assistance of the Americans, approached, with-
out hearing that Major BurrerrieLp had surrendered.

When within four miles of the Cedars, he was attacked
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by a party of Indians, and, after a fight of an hour,
he also swrrendered.

Arnold, hearing of these misfortunes, marched
against the enemy, then at Vaivbrier, intending to
attack them, and recover the American prisoners.
“When preparing for the engagement, he received a
flag, accompanied by Major SHERBUNE, giving him the
most positive assurances that if he made an attack, it
would be out of the power of Captain ForsTer to
prevent the savages, according to their custom, from
disincumbering themselves of their prisoners, by put-
ting them all to death. Under the influence of this
threat, Ar¥oLp desisted from his purpose,” and suc-
cceded in effecting an exchange of prisoners, on the
Americans agreeing to return immediately to their
homes.

A passage through this series of rapids is very ex-
citing, even to those who have been over them many
times. There is a peculiar motion to the vessel, in
descending them, and you can feel her settling down,
as she glides from one ledge to another.  On passing
the rapids of the Serit Rock, a person unacquainted
with the navigation of these rapids, will almost invol-
untarily hold his breath, till this ledge of rocks, which,
from the shallowness and transparency of the water,
is distinctly seen from the deck of the stcamer, is

passerd; she seems to be running directly upon it, and
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you feel certain that she will strike; but a skillful
hand is at the helm,—an instant more, and it is passed
n safety.

Braunarnats is a small village at the foot of the
cascades, on the south bank of the river. Vesscls
here enter the Beauharnais Canal, which, in the dis-
tance of fourteen miles, takes them around the rapids
of the Cascades, Cedars, and Coteau, into lake St.
Francis. On the north bank, a branch of the Ottawa
enters the St. Lawrence. The water of this river is
very dark colored, and does not readily mix with that
of the St. Lawrence, which is very pure, and the line
of distinction between them can be traced for a con-
siderable distance. The river again widens into a
Jake, called St. Lous, and a view Is now had of
Montreal mountain, nearly thirty miles distant.

In passing through this lake, on the right is Nux’s
Tsvaxp, which is beautifully cultivated, and belongs to
the Grey Nunnery, at Montreal. Tt is easily distin-
guished by a long mound, having the appearance of
being artificial, upon the south end of which, an im-
mense cross is erccted. There are many islands in
the vicinity of Montreal, belonging to the nunneries,
and from which they derive large revenues. After
passing lake St. Louis, we arrive at the little village of
LAciiNg.

The origin of this name is said to have been from
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the following incident: When the French first as-
eended the river, and arrived at this place, the open
expanse of lake St. Louis being before them, led them
to believe that the way to China was open to them,
and the exclamation accordingly was, “ La Chine! la
Chine!” At this place, M. D La SarLe once estab-
lished himself as a fur-trader.

From this point is a railroad running to Montreal, a
distance of nine miles. This is also the terminus of
the Lachine Canal, by which vesscls avoid the Lachine
rapids.

Here, too, is the residence of Sir GEoreE SIMPSON,
Governor of the “Hudson Bay Company,” and dis-
tinguished as a traveler, by his “voyage round the
world.”

On the south bank of the river, just before en-
tering the Lachine rapids, is the Indian village of
CAUGHNAWAGA.

This town was built in 1671, by Indians, who had
been converted by the Jesuits, and were called “pray-
ing Indians,” or Caughnawagas. These Indians, du-
ring the French wars, were often engaged in predatory
incursions upon their neighbors in the New England
provinces. On one of these excursions, they tock
possession of a church-bell, and carried it on poles, on
their shoulders, through the woods, to their village*

and this bell now hangs in their church.
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The Lachine is one of the most interesting of the
rapids. The water is very turbulent, and the current
very swift. After passing this rapid, we see, on the
left, another island, belonging to the nuns. We also
pass the little village of La Pramrie. From this part

of the river, a fine view is had of the mountain and
city of MONTREAL.
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MONTREAL.

When Jacques CarTier first ascended the St. Law-
rence, in 1535, he found, at this place, a large Indian
village, called HocneLica.

In 1540, Francis pE 1a Roque and Seigneur
De RoserviLLg, visited this place with an expedition,
intending to make a permanent settlement; their ex-
pectations not being realized, at the end of the year
they returned to France. There now seems to have
been a lapse of over fifty years in the French discov-
eries in Canada.

CuaMpLATN visited the country in 1603. In 1640,
the converted Indians began to make Montreal their
home; and in 1647, a grand mass and festival was
celebrated.

In consequence of a quarrel between the French
and some of the Indian tribes, a large body of the
Five Nations, on the 26th of July, 1688, landed on
the island of Montreal, and, while the French imag-
ined themselves in perfect security, burnt their houses,
and massacred men, women, and children. Ina history
of the province of New York, it is stated, that “a thou-

gand Freneh wer slain in this invasion, and twenty-six
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were cartied into captivity and burned alive. Many
more were made prisoners in another attack, in Octo-
ber.  Only three of the confederate Indians were lost
in all this scene of misery and desolation.”

In 1696, Count FronxtEnac left Montreal, with a
force of one thousand French and two thousand In-
dians, on an expedition against the Oxonpagas. He
succeeded in destroying many of their villages, and
then returned to Montreal.

This was the headquarters whence issued so many
parties of French and Indiuns, who continued their
attacks upon the English, till the conquest of Canada.
After the peace of 1763, it was surrendered to the
English, and French sovereignty ceased upon this con-
tinent. In 1775, Montreal was surrcndered to the
Americans, under General MowteomeRry, and the
English general, Carreron, retreated to Quebee.

Montreal being the headquarters of the fur-traders,
bere these adventurous navigators took in a cargo of
goods suited to the Indian taste, and set forth on
their voyage up the Orrawa, into the midst of a
wilderness.  The idea of Moore’s well known “ Can-
adian Boat Song ” originated from the fact of these
parties stopping at St. Anx’s, the last church on the
island, and imploring the protection of their tutelar
saint. These expeditions would be absent a year,

sometimes two, and even three years, and would
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return freighted with the rich furs of the west. In
the “palmy days™ of the Fur Company, the retun
of these parties to Montreul presented an exciting
scene. Pleasure and revelry took the place of labor
and watchfulness; and, in a short time, the fruits of
their toil being dissipated, they were ready again to
go forth upon an expedition so fraught with danger,
difficulty, and privations.

Mr. McTavish, an influential member of this com-
pany, was the person to whom the little colony of
Asrorrs — founded by Joun Jacos Astor — on the
banks of the Columbia, was surrendered by the Amer-
icans, in 1812, His former residence, now entirely
deserted, and enjoying the reputation of a *hauntcd
house,” is situated on the road running around the
mountain; and his grave is in the woods, a short dis-
tance up the mountain, and a small monument is there
erected to his memory.

The quays of Montreal are the finest on this conti-
nent, and equal to any in the old world; they arve
constructed of solid masonry in cut stone, and are
about a mile in length.

A few years ago, Montreal was deficient in hotels,
and visitors found much inconvenience from this causc.
This has been thoroughly remedied, and the city now
abounds in fine ones, where every comfort can be found.

No one should omit a ride round the mountain;
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this is over a fine McAdamized road, and passes many
delightful residences. From the mountain, the view
of the city of Montreal, with its immense cathedral,
the St Lawrence with its islands, and the distant
mountain scenery, form a picture worthy the pencil
of a true artist.

The streets in the old part of Montreal are very
narrow, and, even in some of the principal ones, the
stranger finds himself wondering when he shall gt
out of the lanes and by-ways, and emerge into the
street. The houses being very high, scem to render
them still more narrow. The new part of the city
has been laid out in the modern style, with wide
streets, and is well built.

The Cathedral of Montreal is an immense building,
capable of holding fifteen thousand persons. It is
built of granite, and the exterior is very imposing ;
but the interior is not finished in a corresponding
style, the pillars being imitation marble.

Near the cathedral is the “Black Nunnery.” Visitors
are not allowed to go farther than the Hospital; they
nowever can obtain admission into the “Grey Nunnery,”
situated a few streets nearer the river; this is inter-
ssting to a stranger. No regular charge is made for
showing visitors through the establishment; but it is
expected they will purchase some of the little fancy
articles made by the inmates.
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The Bishop’s Church, at the distance of a short ride
from the cathedral, is a handsome edifice, and contains
many paintings. The convent of the Sisters of Char-
ity is at this place, and visitors, except on certain days,
are allowed an entrance.

A monument, erected to the memory of Lord Ner-
soxN, stands on Notre Dame street, on the square
opposite the entrance to the Place d’ Armes.

Opposite the lower part of the city is the island of
Sr. Heren; the upper end of this is crowned by a fine
grove of forest trees, and on the lower end is a strong
fortification, commanding the passage of the river.

The Quebec steamers usually leave in the evening
making the passage each way in the night. They,
however, leave each end of the route so early, that
passengers have an opportunity of seeing the most
interesting points on the river.

A small rapid, called St. MaRYs, is just below St
Helen’s island, which, though it occasions no incon-
venience to steamers, often retards sail vessels in
ascending.

Wirriay Hesry, or SoreL, forty-five miles below
Montreal, stands on the site of an old fort, built in
1665. In May, 1776, the fort at this place was taken
and occupied by a body of Americans, on their retreat
from Quebec, after the death of MoNTGOMERY.

Lake St. Prrer is fifty miles below Montreal. The
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river here expands to twelve or fifteen miles in breadth,
for twenty-five miles.

Taree Rivers, half way between Montreal and
Quebec, is situated on the north side of the St. Law-
rence. This is an old town, having been erected by
the French in 1618.
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QUEBEC.

In 1535, CArmiER took solemn possession of the
country at this point, by erecting a cross, decorated
with a shield bearing the lilies of France, whither he
then sailed. In 1541, he returned, and built a fort
on the present site of QueBEc.

The city of Quenec was founded by Samues Crau-
PLATN, in 1608. In 1622, the population was reduced
to fifty souls. At this time, a company was formed
in the mother country, called the “ Company of New
France.” The object of this company was the con-
version of the Indians, by the aid of the Jesuits; the
extension of the fur trade; and to find a short passage
to China and the East Indies, through the rivers and
lakes of New France. The king presented this com-
pany with two ships, on condition that the value of
them should be refunded, if, within ten years, fifteen
hundred French inhabitants were not transported lo
the country. For the first few years, this colony suf-
fered severely from the hostility of the Iroquors.

In 1629, Sir Davip Kems, in the employ of the
British crown, sailed up the St. Lawrence, and made
the conquest of Quebec. The treaty of St. Germain,
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concluded soon after, restored to France, Quebec and
her other American possessions.

From this time till 1697, history furnishes us with
records of Indian fights, and barbarities perpetrated
upon each other by the French and English. The
Indians, with their usual policy, determined to take
part permanently with neither party, and accordingly
extended their aid to one or the other, as caprice or
inclination dictated.

In June, 1759, the English army, under General
Worrg, landed upon the island of Orieans. He then
took possession of Pornt Lzvi, on the southern bank
of the St. Lawrence, and erected several heavy bat-
teries, bearing directly upon the town. By these, sev-
eral houses were burned: but not much impression
was made upon the forlifications, they being so strong,
and the distance so great. General Worre became
sensible that there were no hopes of success, unless
he could erect batteries on the north shore of the
river. He attempted to capture the entrenchments
at MontmoreNcr, and succeeded in landing his troops
under cover of the fire from his ships, but was gal-
lantly repulsed by the French. He then determined
to carry the HErcurs oF ABRABAM.

On the 12th of September, the ships sailed nine
miles up the river to Cape RoveE; this deceived the

French, and a large detachment was sent up the “iwer
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to prevent their landing. In the mean time, the ships
had dropped down the river to Worre’s Cove, and at
four o’clock in the morning, the troops began to land.

The Marquis Ds MoxrcaLy, hearing the English
had landed on the Plains of Abraham, and believing
it impossible to be z;,ccomplished by the whole army,
supposed it was merely a stratagem to draw him from
his strong position at Montmorenci.  Finding that
it was really the case, he crc;ssed the St. Charles,
and formed his army for battle. There were about
Afifteen hundred militia and Indians sheltered in some
bushes, who poured a destructive fire upon the Eng-
lish. “Mowntcarn had taken post on the left of the
French army, and Worre upon the right of the Eng-
1ish, so that the two generals met at the head of their
respective troops.”

Soon after the commencement of the battle, Worrg
veceived a wound in the wrist; this he concealed
Shortly after, he received another in the groin; this
too was concealed, and he was advancing at the head
of his grenadiers when a third bullet entered’ his
‘breast. “Though expiring, it was with reluctance
ho permitted himself to be conveyed into the rear,
where, careless of himself, he discovered in the ago-
nies of death, the most anxious solicitude concerning
the fate of the day. Being told that the enemy was
wisibly broken, he reclined his head, from extreme

6
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——

faintness, on the arm of an officer standing near hims,
but was soon aroused with the distant sound of “They
fly, they fy.” “Who fly ?” asked the dying hero.
On being answered, the French, ¢ Then,” said he, I
depart content,” and almost immediately expired.

Less fortunate, but not less gloriously, expired the
gallant Montcarm. About the same time he received
a wound, and om being told that it was mortal; and
that but a few hours of life remained to him, he
expressed the greatest satisfaction, and- exclaimed, ““Se
much the better! I shall not live to see the surrender
of Quebec.”

After the loss of General Worre, the battle was
continued by General Mowckron; and, upon his be-
ing wounded, the command devolved upon Generat
TowwnsueNp. The French soon after were driven
from the ground.

General Towwnsuenp, after the baitle, employed
himself in making preparations for the siege of Quebec,
but, before his batterfes were opened, the town capit-
ulated. A force of five thousand men, under General
MuzrrAY, were left to garrison the fort, and the fleet
sailed out of the St. Lawrence.

In 1760, the French made preparations to besiege
Quebee, and a battle had already taken place, when a
large English fleet arrived, and the French retreated
to MontrEAL. Thus ended this eventful war.
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The body of General WoLrE was taken to England.
That of the Marquis Mowrcarm was interred in the
chapel in the Ursuline Convent. A simple monument
was erected bearing the following inscription:

HONNEUR A MONTCALM .
LE DESTIN EN TLUI DE’ROBANT LA VICTOIRE

LA RECOMPENSE PAR UNE MORT GLORIEUSE.

A monument is erected to the memory of both
these heroes, in a pleasant place called Governor’s
GARDEN.

In 1775, General WasmiNGgTON hearing that a large
portion of the English army was concentrated about
Montreal, projected an attack against Quebec; and in
order to accomplish this he determined to send a
body of men to reinforce General MonrcoMeRy, then
at Montreal. Their route was to ascend the Kenebec,
and strike across to the Dead river, and follow this
stream till they could again cross the forest and reach
the headwaters of the Chaudiere, emptying into the
8t. Lawrence. So great were the delays in starting,
owing to the derangements in the army, that they
did not commence their march till the middle of
September. The command of the troops was given
to General Arvoip. The impediments were such
that he did not reach Point Levi iill the 9th of
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November. The town was almost without a garrison,
and the inhabitants would as soon have expected
to see an army descend from the clouds, as to emerge
from the wilderness through which they had just made
their way. Could ArnoLp have immediately crossed
the St. Lawrence he would have easily obtained pos-
session of the town, but a violent storm was prevailing,
and before this abated, and a sufficient number of
boats could be collected, the garrison was strongly
reinforced.

On the 12th the wind moderated and AxrworLp
embarked, and after infinite difficulty and danger,
landed with his little army about a mile and a half
above where Worre had disembarked. Finding the.
cliffs at this point impracticable, he marched down the
river to Worre’s Cove. Ascending the precipice up
which, sixteen years before, Worre and his brave
followers had clambered, he formed his small corps on
the Heights of Abraham.

Arvorp proposed to march immediately against
Quebec, in hopes of finding some one of the gates
open; this opinion was overruled, the expectation of
finding the garrison off its guard being deemed too
improbable to be calculated upon. It was afterward
found that the gate called St. Johns was very slightly
guarded, and could easily have been entered. Arworp

concluded at last, to retire to Point sv TreMBLES,
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and await the arrival of MoxrtcoMery. The latter
having clothed his almost naked troops in Montreal,
and procured clothes for those in Arxorp’s command,
garrisoned the place, and proceeded to Point au Trem-
bles, and joining Aryorp, marched to Quebec.

It was now in the depth of a Canadian winter, and
the hardships which the troops were obliged to un-
dergo, were excessive; bat they were supported with
the utmost patience and firmness.

General MoxTcoMERY determined to make an at-
tack; and accordingly, on the 31st of December, the
signal was given, and the troops moved forward to
the assault. Moxrtcoumery advanced, at the head of
the New York troops, along the St. Lawrence, under
Cape Dismonp. Along this narrow path the Amer-
icans pressed forward until they reached a block-
house and picket. The general, with his own hands,
assisted in cutting down and pulling up the pickets,
to open a passage for his troops. He now found it
absolutely necessary to make a halt, and collect a force
with which he might venture to proceed. Having
reassembled about two hundred men, he advanced
boldly and rapidly at their head to force the barrier
One or two persons had now returned to the deserted
batiery, and one of them, seizing a match, discharged
one of the guns when the American force was distant

about forty paces. This single and accidental fire
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was a fatal one. General Monrcomery, Captains
McPugerson and CHrEEsemax, the former the aid to
the general, and his orderly sergeant, were killed on
the spot. The loss of their general, discouraged the
troops, and they precipitately retired from the action.

The division of ArNoLp moved along the street St.
Roque. The path was so narrow, from the works of
the enemy, and the blocks of ice thrown from the St.
Charles, that the two pieces of artillery in front were
capable of raking the whole ground. As ArNoip
approached the barrier, he received a musket ball in
the leg, which shattered the bone, and he was carried
to the hospital. Colonel Morean then rushed for-
ward, at the head of his company, and endeavored to
capture the barrier. After a severe contest he found
they were unable to cope with the numbers of the
enemy, and they surrendered themselves prisoners.

The Americans, under AryoLp, retired about three
miles from the city, and there remained through the
winter. In the spring, Arvorp retired to Montreal,
and General Tuomas took the command. In May a
British fleet arrived, and General Taomas relreated
up the river, leaving many of his sick to fall into the
hands of the enemy. Thus ended this, as it has since
proved, last attempt to capture Quebec.

This city is very interesting to a stranger; it is the

only walled city in the Canadas, and one feels on
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jassing the gateways, and being shut in by the pon-
derous gates, as though he were entering some sort
of prison. There arc five of these gates.

Cape Dramowp, upon which the citadel stands, is
three hundred and forty-five feet in height, and derives
its name from the quantity of crystals mixed with the
granite below its surface. The fortress includes e
avhole space on the cape.-

Above the spot where General MoNTGUMERY wus
%killed, is now the inelined plane, running to the {op of
the bank; it is five hundred feet long, and is used by
the government to convey stores, and other articles
of great weight, to the fortress. Strangers are allowed
1o enter this fortress, by proeuring tickets from the
proper authorities.

A ride to the Praivs or Asrauam is one of the
most interesting visits about this celebrated city; a
tock is there peinted out, as the spot where General
Wovrre expired. There are four martello towers,
forty feet in height, standing wpon the plain, about
kalf a mile in advance of the other fortifications.

Seven miles below Quebec is the FarL or Mowtais-
mENol. The road is very pleasant, passing Lhroug'\
the French village of Beaveorr. Those who expect
to see a second Nisgara, will be very much disup-
pointed. The stream deseends, in silvery threads,

ever a precipice two undred and forty feet in height,
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and, in connection with the surrounding scenery, is
extremely picturesque and beautiful, but inspires none
of the awe felt at Niagara.

The French (Catholic) Church is a spacious stone
building, and the interior is decorated with some fine
paintings. Since the destruction of the Convent at
CuarLesrown, Mass, Americans are not allowed en-
trance to the Ursuline Convent. 1t is the more to be
regretted, from the fact that the grave of Monrcarm
is in their chapel.

Castle St. Louis, probably the first public building
i Quebec, the corner stone of which was laid by
CraupLaty, on the 6th of May, 1624, was destroyed
by fire on the 23d of January, 1834. By the orders
of Lord Durnawm, the site of this castle was eleared of
the ruins that covered it, leveled, and floored with
wood, and an iron railing placed on the edge of the
precipice, making a very delightful promenade. The
view from it commands the lower town, the St. Law-
rence as far down as the island of Orleans, the harbor
with its ships, and Point Levi on the opposite side of

the river.
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ROUTE FROM MONTREAL TO SARATOGA THROUGH
LAKE CHAMPLAIN.

Opposite Montreal, and connected by a ferry, is
the depot where the cars are taken for Rouse’s Poixr,
passing through the village of St. Jonxs. This place
was besieged and captured by the Americans, in 1775.

Lake CuaampraiN received its name from SaMUEL
CuampLAIN, who discovered it in 1608. One of the
Indian names given to it was CaNapERTGUARUNTE,
signifying the mouth or door of the country. Another
was PETAWA-BOUQUE, signifying alternate land and
water

Rouse s Porsr is the termination of the Ogdens-
burgh Railroad, and there is an immense depot directly
at the steamboat landing. Here, passengers for Bos-
Tox can take the Vermont Central Railroad; or, if they
desire a sail on Lake Champlain, can go to BURLINGTON,
and there take the Bwlington and Rutland Railroad.

PLATTSB{JRGH, on the west side of the lake, is a
handsome town, and is celebrated as the scene of
McDonoucn’s vietory, on the 11th of September 1814.
The Legislature of New York presented Commodere
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McDoxoveH with a farm of one hundred acres, situ-«
ated upon CumBERLAND HEAD.

BurLiNgrox is situated upon the Vermont side of
the lake. It is built upon a slope rising gradually
from the water, and is one of the handsomest towns
on the route.

CrowN Point, situated on the west side of the
lake, is now a ruin. It was built by the French, in
1731, and called Forr Str. Freperick. In 1759, it
was taken by General Ammerst, and held by the
English till 1775, when it was taken by Colonel
WarNER — the same day that Colonel ALrew took

Ticonderoga.
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TICONDEROG A.

The ruins of old Fort TicoNxpEroca are situated
on a peninsuli, formed by Lake Champlain and the
outlet of Lake George.  The Indian name was Crroxs-
DEROG, and was slightly changed by the I'vench to
its present appellation. This post was built by the
¥rench in 1756. Motvst INDEPENDENCE, on the east
side of the lake, was also fortificd, and remains of some
of the old works can still be seen.

In 1759 this post was evacuated by the French,
and the English occupied it.  They retained possession
of it till 1775, when it was surprised and taken on
the 10th of May, by the Amcricans, under Colonel
Ersaxy Arcex.  “The commandant of the fort was
surprised in his bed by ArLeN, Arxorp, and a few of
their followers, who had entered by a subterranean
passage, and made themsclves masters of it, without
any loss. On being ordered to surrender, he asked,
by what authority he was required to do so: Arrex
replied, ‘I demand it in the name of the great Jehovah,
and of the Continental Congress.’” The Congress,
however, knew nothing of the matter, its first meeting
being held some hours after this transaction.

In 1777, the British army, under General Burgoywr,
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on their route to Huretoon, appeared before this post.
They erected a battery on Mount Defiance, which is
elevated seven hundred and twenty feet above the
lake, and completely commanded the fort.  General
St. Crair was forced to evacuate it; the Americans
never retook it, and it was suffered to go to decay.

The Champlain boats proceed up the lake to Wurrs-
gAaLL., Those desirous of secing Lixs Groreg, leave
the boat here, and are conveyed in carringes a distance
of three miles and a half, to the “Lake George
Steamboat Landing.”

This lake is celebrated for its romantic and varied
scenery, and the transparency of its waters. It is
thirty-six miles long, and from two to threc miles in
width. It was called Lac Sicramest, by the French,
on account of the purity of its waters. The Indian
name was Horicon.

The steamer runs to CALpwELL, at the south-west
end of the lake, This is the site of Forr WiLLiam
Hexry, and was the scene of the massacre which took
place on the 10th of August, 1756, and left such a
stain upon the memory of MoNToaLm, that it was
scarcely erased v; his glorious death upon the plains
of Abraham.

The road from Caldwell to GrLex’s Fairrs, is through
a wild country, abounding in historical incidents of the

old French war, and of the Revolution.
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Shortly after leaving Caldwell, we pass Broooy
Poxp, inte which, alter an engagement in September
1753, the bodies of a thousand French and English
were thrown.  From Caldwell passengers are convey-
ed to Saxpy Hivt, by stages, and thence by railroad

g
£0 SARATOLA.

We now tuke leave of you, who have journeyed so
far with us, hoping that we have whiled away some
few moments that might otherwise perhaps have been
tedious; and, wishing you renewed health from the
sparkling waters of Saratoga, and a pleasant return to

your homes, we say — FareweLL!



TABLES OF DISTANCES

DISTANCES BETWEEN BUFFALO AND QUELEC

By the United States Mail Line,

BuaMalo,
Nivcinra Falls, .
Toowiston, oo Lol
Nounetonwn, Lo

Brockyiil
Oudenehirs

Cadtop Rapids, ¢ oo o0
5

De Plice do.
Mantily,
MWollin=bii ol
Chryseder’s T bat- 2

te coround,o ooy
Totr~ville,
Long Souls Ragn
Connwall, oo .o

SERears, (hitiangy 2
Eaveaster, oo
Cotean bu L

Cotean Rapids,

Cedar do between

Caseades dog

b Cloe, Co o
Yachine Rapids
Montecal,, o

urhee, CoL

UP.

Quebee, __
Monnical,
La Chnne, -
Beaubining
Cotean
L~
S Re
Cotnwall,.
MWoilltiishy
Matitda, oo
Oudenshn
Biocksaile, -
Alx Bay,
Clayton, o
Koieston .
Sachetis larbor,
Chweson oo
Rochester, -
Lewiston, __
Niagara Il
Butlo,

.
Lae,

7 :
- 22,0635
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BUFFALO AND QUEBEC,

By Amerioan Express Line.
LOWN,

Qnehec,
Montrea!
La Cliane
Beanbarnals
Cotean du Ldb,

0.,

Buofalo,._.
ra | 18|| -120

Niag
Tewision, ...
Toronw, ____ L.
Cape Vinceat, -

Clayton, oo I«m«d\!u, —————
Alx Bay, 2 Rey, (lndlan -
Brochville Cornwall, -
()nhu\lvur; - ],mn<\'1Hr3.

Gillap Ru]rlL .- Williamsbuar

De DPian. Marida, __..
Matilda, - 16_.323 || Ozdensburgh, -

Wiliunshn o 700330 || Brockvalle,.
Chyyselers Farm bat- }

tle crouudo oo oL
Tonu=ville, _

Montreal,
Quebec, ..

NIAGARA FALLS AND NEW YORK,
Vie Oswego, by United States Mail Line,

EAST. WEST.
Ningara Falls, __ - New York,
Jewiston, - __ Albany,..

Schenectady,
Awsicrdam, -

‘ Fonda,.__.__ :
Palatine Bridge 11201
Fort Plain, ..
St Johnsville
Little Fal
Herkimer,
| Utica, —-.
ane, I

Youngstown,
Rochester,
O~weua,
Syracuse,

Scheneetady, -
Albanv._.
New York..
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BUFFALO AND NIAGARA FALLS RATLROAD.

Buffalo,-....-
Bluck Rock,.
Cherry’s, ...
Tonawanda,.

Niwgara Falls, oo
3 || Sehlosser..
6 Cayusa C
L
7
0

Tonawanda, .
FOCNETYY 8y oceeeee o
Black Rock,

Niagara Falls, Bufalo,

NIAGARA FALLS AND NEW YORK,

Via Toronto and Cape Vincent, by American Express Line.

EAST. WEST.
Niarvara Falls, .. New York,.._.
Lewiston, - Albany, ...
Toronta, .- Schenectady,
Cape Vincent, - Amsterdam,.
Chamont, - . Fonla, ... ..
Limerick, K(. Johnsville,-
Brownville, - ITevknner, o
Watertown
Adams Centre,
Adar
Pierrey
Mauusville, oo
Sandy Creek,

Tabere, oo
MeConnel-ville, oo
Canuleng oo ooLo
Willuunstown,

Ruchland, - o2 Kasoaer, o
Allnon, - Albion,
Kasoir, . Richlinul

IWhamsown, -
Canden, o_o_
MeConnelsville,

Sy reck,
Mannsville, .
Prevvepont Manoy,
Adaisy
Alduns Ceuter,
Walertown,
Brownville, _
Lounick,
Chamout,

Hoerkimer,
S Johneville,
TFonda

Lewistoiy, .
Niagava Falls, ..

New Yor J147..572
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MORTREAL AND QUEBEC.

Loke s Pey
Willam Hem
Varenues,
Muoneal, o2

Cuape Bante, 2
Cape Rou:
Quebeey, Lo ooLoo

DOWN.
BMontreal, __ Quebec, .. ___.__
Varenues, e Cape Rouge,.
Wiltiam Henpy Cape Sanlo, o
Lahe s Per ehuien Rapiads,.
S Pracls S
Turee River !Tlnu
TS CTTTTC A ! R

|

SARATOGA AND WHITE HALL RATLROAD.

‘White Hall, 0.0 g Saralon, L.
Comstock, . 7.7 ‘ Gansevoor
Fort Aun,.. 2 410 Movean, o

Sondes Basu
Duusham’s Bas,
Fort Bdwanld, o
Dorean, oo
Gansevoor
Saritoga,

Smith's Basin, .
Fort Anny.ooo.o o ...
Comstock, .

_5__16, Foiu Edward,
. ‘White Hall,

}l)unlmm’n Busi,

25 miles.

Saratoga to Troy, o
- miles.

Saratoga to Schenectady,----

MONTREAL AND NEW YORK,

Through Lake Champlain.

GOING SOUTH. GOING NORTH.
Moutrealy __ - New York, -

Q. Johng o Alhany, ..
Rouze’s Point, FToy,
Platshurehy oo Roatow,
Burhimeron, oo
Ticondernga,_
White Hall,
Qaratoza,
Tioy
Albany,_
New York,..-

Trennderow
Burhington,
Pialtshnrel
Rous=e's Toinl,
St Johns, .
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TICONDEROGA TO SARATOGA,
Through Lake George.

Ticorderoga,
Caldwell,__
Baratogdy .-

OGDENSBURGH AND BO9STON,
Via Vermont Central Railrcad.

EAST.
Nadensburgh,.
Lishon, ..
DMadind,

Moira, .-
Brush Milis.
Bungor,. .
Malone,.
Burk..
Chateaugay,
Ellenburgh, -
Chazy, .
Centervill

Clmplam, o
Tonce’s Point,
Albaiiely,
Swanion..
ST,
Colehestee, (oo
Fiesex Junction,
Riclhimonnd,
Waierhuory
Montpelier,
Northficld, . ..
Roxbury, ..
Braintir
South Royaleon, .
White River Junetion,
Lebanon, _.__
Canaan, __
West Audoy
Franklin, _
Concord, ..
Munrhester,. .
Nazhua,
Lowe
Wohi
Wedtord,
Boston,

1010 —
DL o

¢ Northiield,

WEST.
Basion, o ____.
Modond,. -
Woburm,_ -

Coneord, oo
Frankliy -
West Andov -
Canaan, oo _
Lehavion,
White River Junction,_
South Royalton,.
Biaintree,. .. -
Roxbury, -

Montpelier, ___
Waterhnry,.___
Richmond, .o
[i-sex Junetion,.
Colchesrer, (o
S Albans, L
SWin,
Albnzn,
Rou-e> Potnt,
Champlain, ..
Maoore's, o ___
Centeryvilie,
Chazv, .-
Eilenteed,
Clateatnna
Burk,. . _
Malone
Bangor, -
Biusli My
Motra,
Lawrence, |
Rya~her 1al
o pps,
Potdam
Mahvid, oL
Tashon, .o ...
Oudepshurgh, o,
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OGDENSBURGH AND BOSTON,
Via Rutland and Burlington Railroad.

EAST.
Ogdensburgh, _
Rouse’s Poin

Ferrishurg
Vergennes
New ITaver
Middiebury,
Salisbury, ...
Whitng, .
Brandun,.
Piuts{oud,
Ratland. .
Clarendon, o
Cuttrerzvilte, 2
Mount Holly,
Tudlow, -
Procta lle, -
Duuvonsville,
Gsseits,
Chester, -
Bartonsville, ____
Rockiugham,
Bellows Falls,_
Wa'pole,a oo
Westmoreland,

Fitzwilliam, -
Winchendon, ..
South Ashburnbham,
Westmtnster,
Fitchburgh,
Lemninster,
Groton, ___.
South Acton,.
Coneord,- ..
Waltham,
Boston, ...

10..394
10..404

! Basten, ___.

TWEST.

Waltham,
Concord, .
South Act
Groton, ..
Leominster,
Fitchhg, .
Westnuster, ...
South A-hburnham
Winchendon,__
Frizwilliam,
Troy, ...
Keene,o ...
Westinoreland,
Walpole,. .-
Bellows Falls,_
Rochmrhan,
Baitonusville,
Chester,
Gazssens,
Duwitonsville,
Proctorsville,
Ludlow, .
Mouut Holly, _
Cuttimgsvilie, _
Clarerddon, o
Rudinnl, -
Piutstond,
Brandon,.
Whiting.
Salisbury,
Middlebnor,
New Haver
Vercennes,.
Ferrnsburg
Charlotte,
Shelhurne, .
Burlingion,
Rouse’s Pain
Ogdensburg, ----

_.118__404

OSWEGO AND SYRACUSE RAILROAD.

OaweTo, -
Falton, -
T.awsons,
Baldwinsville
SYracuse; meeeceeeannn

| Fulton, __

Syracise, .o
Baldwinsvill
Lawsnns,

Oswego, - ..
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OGDENSBURGH RAILROAD.

Oudensbureh, -
J.ashou, o
Madinl,ooooo.
Trotsdun,
HSTRI TN,
Brasher T
Lawrence, .

Cenerville,
Moore’s,
Champlat, oo_.
Rouze’s Pomt,.-

Rouse’s Point,
Champlain,
Mome s o
Centerville,
Chazy,._.__..
Ellenburgh, _
Chateaugay, -
Burke .-

ALatine,
Janor, o
Brosts Mills, o
Mona,

Lawienee,
Brashier Fall

KnappTs,
Potsidam, -
Madendy
Eashon, _o__ .

R

Oudensbuigh,

BUFFALO AND CINCINNATI,

Bu(alo, by steamer to
Clevelund, ..
Berea,._ ..
Columbia,
Fadon, ...
Gralton, __
Wellingron, o
Nrw Londen,

Shelby,
Ibeira,

Oxtonl,
Delawar
Quanee
Columbus,
West Jellerson,
London,.
Xcenia, ..

Waynesville
Marrow, ..
Deetietd, o
Mittord, ...
Plainviile, -
Cincinnati,...

Cinecinnati,
Plimvilie,
Ahiltond, o
Deerlield

Morrow, _.
Wavnesville, .
Nenty -
foondon, -
West Jellerson,
Columbus,
Oranve, ___
Duelaware,
Oxlord, __.
Theriay oo
Shelby, ...
New London, .
Wellingtan,
Graflon,
Ealon, .
Columbia,
Berea, o __
Cleveland, __.
Bullalo, by steamer, -
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NEW YORK T0 NIAGARA FALLS,

Via Central Railroad.
New York to Niagura Falls, . __
Alhany, hy steamboat,.___147__117 || Butfalo,___
Sehevectady, oo 1716 |} Lancaster

Amsterdam
Fonda,.
Palatine
Toit Phuan,. 2.
SeoJobnsville,
Litite FPalls,_o ..
flerkbmer, _.
Franktort, 2 Beraen, -
Luca, ¢ 2] Chuehvalle,
Whiteshoro 4_.24u || Rochester, ..

4
Town Line, -
DoAlden, oL
> Dantey Clty, -
AliCay. ..
A lenande

Ratavia,

Oriskany, . Piusiord,
Romr .- Vietor, .
Verona Center, Canandaigua,
Ouetda, oo East Vienna,
Canastata, Geneva, __
Chittenango, \Waterleo
Manltins, I'Seueea Fal

Syracns- Cuyuga Bri
Marcellus | Avnr, -
Holf Way [ Shaneatel
Raancaieles "Hall Way,. o

Aubsiny, oo Marcellus,
Cayura Bn P Sviacuse,
Senecn Fall tManlius, oo

Waterlon,
Ceeneva,

Clie § uango,
Canesiona, o

Bast Vienna, Oucnilay .
Cananmdal Verona Center,
v - Rome,

Pittsio Ori~kany, ..
WRoehess Whitesboro,
Chny Uhiea, oooos
Jersen, Frankforty -
3yron,. ITerkier
Baravia, - 2 || Liwtle Pul
Alexanl st Johnsval
Attica, ... Fort Pl
Danen City, < Palatioe Bridge,.
Alden,._. | ol

Towin Lin Armsterdain
Lancaster, . ‘ Seheneetady,

Albany - 37
Now York, by steamboat, 147_.497

Niagara Falls, . _o....... 22497 f
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‘WATERTOWN AND ROME RAILROAD.

Cape Vincent,
Clianmont,
Tamerick
Brownville
AValei W,

Adams Centre,.
Adams,
Prevvepont Manoy
Manm-vitle
Sandy
Ruehtad, -
Albion,
T,
Wilhamstown,
Coamdeny oo
MeConnelsvilley oo
Toberw
Rome, oo

NEW

MeCaomn
Coroden
Willtinnstowh,
Kasoag,___
Albton, -
Raehland, -
Sanmly Creck,

Mann=villey oo
Pierrepout Manor
Adane, oo
Adaine Coenlig,
Wateriowi,.
Brownville,
Limenek
Clirinm
Cape Vineent,

YORK TO NIAGARA FALLS,

Via Erie Railroad.

New Yor
Piermont, -
Clarkstown,
Suileins,
Raraapo,
Monroe,
Oxford, ..
Chester,
Goshen,.
Delawaie, .

Lackawaxen,.
Cochecton, -
Deposit, o
Susquehanna, o
Binghampton, .
Owevo, |
Tiowgi,
Chemung.
Elmra, -
Cornme,
Cinsteoy
Hornellsville,
Andover,

Allceany. .
Calturan
Dayton..
Fore~tville,
unknhk,
Bullaloy )
Ni

gara ¥ all\

i+ Niagara Falls,.
Boflato, . .
Duikark, by Stare Line R.R. 1%.- b?
Fore=tviie,
Davion,._
[‘nllnr:mgl
Allezany
Ulean,
Genes
Audove
Ilmnellxvnle, -
Canisleo
Corning,
Elmiva,.
Cheon

Ihnwlmmpnm -
Susquehanna,
Dheposing oo

Cocheeton, |
Lackawaxen, .
Deloware,.
Cooshien,
Chester,
Oxtord, o
'\lul)llm
](um,qm,
Sulfeins,
Claik<town,
Tiernimt,
New York,
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MICHIGAN CENTRAL RAILROAD:

Distance from Buflulo to Detroity (by steamery) . ..__......___.2%0 miles
Detroit to i Chicaso to

Dearhoin, Jiacaon, Lo

Wayne,. Siate Line,.

Y psilant, Lake

A Arbor, Pt

v Mo b € Iy,
New Ballado,
- Torie Conpre
Jackson, . Buchanan, |

Tidley's,.
Allnong oo oaa L.
Mirshiall,

Battle Creek,
Galesburgh,

Deeatar, &
Poawpaw,
Kalivmazeo, .
Galesbu

Battle Cro
it |Ma.>hall,
Duowasiac, _ Albron,
Nites, . ... i Gldle,\'"s
Buchanan, _ Jagkson, _
Teire Coupee, .. ‘ Grass Lak

New Bullalo, . Chel
Michrr City, Dexier,

Poy Ann Avchor, -
Lake, . 1 Y pslann,.
Siate Line,._ Wayne,. .
Junction, Dearborn,
Chicago, i Dewrenr,

Two trains of cars Jeave Chicago daily, (Sundays 9\rcp1mh for Da-
troit, connecting with the steamers of the line, 2unning deeel through,
without lading, to Buftalo ; and alse the mifferent lues of sicamers G
Dunkirk, Cleveland, and \amlu\hy Passengers luavinz Clucazo by the
Express Train at nizht, connect at Detroit with the uorth shore boids (oi
Buffalo.

Two trains of cars leave Detroi—the Express Train on the arrival of
the vorth shors boats from Buffulo, in the alternomm, to Clneage; and
the Muil Trins, in the morning.

A e of sicaumers connert at Chicago with the road, for Milwaukee,
Kenosha, Racine, Wankezan, Sheboyzan, and other ports on Lake
Miehiean.

Suiges run from Battle C'veck and Kalamazoo to Grand Rapids; Y-
lantl to Advian ; Dexter to Aason s Jackson 1o Joncsville amd Lansig,
the capttal of the state; Marshall to Coldwater; Niles Lo lﬂgdm[mn,
Ind.: Dexter to Howell,

Boats leave the Mrelngan Central Railvoad Wharf, Bufialo, every
evening, for Detroit, on the arrival of the Express Train from Atlbany.
The line consists of the steamers

Capr. GEO WILLOUGHBY.
_.Carr. J. B. PEI'TEY.
..Capr. D H. McBRIDE.

I MOVIUSK, AgenT, Rutlalo,




158 TABLES OF DISTANCES.

MICHIGAN SOUTHERN RAILROAD.

Distance from Buffalo to Monroe, (by steamer,) . -.-..-.
Distance from Buflalo to Toledo, (by steamer,) ...

.240 miles.
.250 miles.

Monroe Pier to Chicagn,.- .0
Monroe Cily,. 3 ludizna Wes [
Ta, —ooo ol Batley Town Junction, .26
Petershurg, Calumel, .. eeea B L

o2 Holmes,

Peerticld, - - || ol
- p: -

Palmyri,

Adrian,. . &.. 363 || Terve Coupee, _
Clayton, ... South Bend, ___
Hudson, _ Mashawaka, -
Pittstord, Llkhart, .
Qsseo, . Bristol, ...
Hiltsdale, Constantine, .
Winte Pigeon, .
SLareis,. o
Borr Oak,
Bronson,
Branch,

Collwat
Quiney,

11t
‘ s=en,
CPieslondy
i Hudson,

Clayoon,

Adrinn, .
CPalmyaa
i Deeriieh)
I Petershin
Bailey Town Junction, _. Tda, _.
Indiuna West Line,._ ‘
Chieaun

Monvae Cny,
s Monroe Prer, ..

..485 miles.
. -495 miles.

Distance firom Bufialo to Chicagn, via Mouroe,
Distance from BufTalo to Chicago, via Toledo,

The boats of the Michigan Southern Railroad Co., leave the foot ot
Commercial street, Buflalo, daily, after the arrival of the Evening Ex-
press ‘Train from Albany. The line 1s composed of three first class

Eleamers
EMPIRE STATE, ._._..__..._...__. Carr. IT, VAN ALLEN.
NORTHERN INDIANA,. . ___.___. Carr. R- WAGSTATF.
SOUTHERN MICHIGAN, ....____ Carr. A. D. PERKINS.

II. M. KINNE, AGENT,
Michigan Southern Railroud Dock, foot of Commercial street.
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